
 

 

Please ask for Democratic Services: Telephone 01775 764454  

e-mail: demservices@sholland.gov.uk 

 

AGENDA 
 
 
 

 

Committee - PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL 
 
Date & Time - Thursday, 18 March 2021 at 6.30 pm 
 

Venue - This will be a meeting held in line with The 
Local Authorities & Police & Crime Panels 
(Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority & 
Police & Crime Panel Meetings) (England & 
Wales) Regulations 2020 
The meeting will be held virtually via Zoom and 
streamed live, via the following link: 

  www.facebook.com/SouthHollandDCofficial/  
 

Membership of the Performance Monitoring Panel: 
 
Councillors: B Alcock (Chairman), J R Astill, M D Booth (Vice-Chairman), C J T H Brewis, 
T A Carter, A C Cronin, J L King, J D McLean, N H Pepper, P A Redgate, G P Scalese, 
A C Tennant, J Tyrrell, S C Walsh and D J Wilkinson 
 
Substitute members on the Performance Monitoring Panel may be appointed only 
from members who are not on the Cabinet.  Substitutions apply for individual 
meetings only.  
 
Quorum: 5 
 

 

 Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn their mobile telephones to 

silent mode 

Democratic Services 
Council Offices, Priory Road 
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE 
 
Date:  10 March 2021 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

http://www.facebook.com/SouthHollandDCofficial/


 

 

A G E N D A 
 

 
1  Apologies for absence. 

  
 

2  Minutes -  
To sign as a correct record the minutes of the following meetings: 
 

 

a)   Performance Monitoring Panel -  
27 January 2021 (copy enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
5 - 18) 

b)   Performance Monitoring Panel -  
9 February 2021 (copy enclosed) 
 

(Pages 
19 - 26) 

c)   Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development 
Panel -  
21 January 2021 (copy enclosed) 
 

(Pages 
27 - 32) 

d)   Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development 
Panel -  
9 February 2021 (copy enclosed) 
 

(Pages 
33 - 40) 

3  Declaration of Interests. -  
Where a Councillor has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest the Councillor 
must declare the interest and leave the meeting without participating in 
any discussion or making a statement on the item, except where a 
councillor is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of dispensation. 
 

 

4  Questions asked under Standing Order 6 
  

 

5  Tracking of Recommendations -  
To consider responses of the Cabinet to reports of the Panel. 
 

 

6  Items referred from the Policy Development Panel. 
  

 

7  Key Decision Plan -  
To note the current Key Decision Plan 
 

(Pages 
41 - 46) 

8  Property acquisition to support the Next Steps Accommodation 
Programme (Portfolio Holder Decision) -  
To allow the Panel to question the Portfolio Holder on the reasons for 
proceeding with the decision, in view of the issues raised during pre-
decision scrutiny (report of the Executive Manager Governance (Deputy 
Monitoring Officer) enclosed. 
 
(Please note that Appendix B to this report is not for publication by virtue 
of Paragraph 2 (Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an 
individual) and Paragraph 3 (Information relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding 
that information)) in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972, and is therefore attached to this agenda as item 13). 
 

(Pages 
47 - 62) 

Page 2



 

 

9  Digital Work Programme -  
The Panel will receive a presentation from the Communications 
Manager on the progress of the Council’s Digital Work Programme. 
 

 

10  Performance Monitoring Panel Work Programme -  
To set out the Work Programme of the Performance Monitoring Panel 
(report of the Executive Manager – Governance (Deputy Monitoring 
Officer) enclosed. 
 

(Pages 
63 - 70) 

11  Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent -  
 
 
NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special 

circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the 
Chairman is of the opinion that the item(s) should be 
considered as a matter of urgency. 

 

 

12  Exclusion of the Press and Public -  
To consider resolving that, under section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the press and public be excluded from the 
meeting for the following item of business on the grounds that it involves 
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 2 
and 3 of Schedule 12 (A) of the Act. 
 

 

13  Property acquisition to support the Next Steps Accommodation 
Programme (Portfolio Holder Decision) -  
Appendix B to the report at agenda item 8 is enclosed. 
 

(Pages 
71 - 72) 

 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



- 20 - 
 

 

Minutes of a meeting of the PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL held in line with 
The Local Authorities & Police & Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local 
Authority & Police & Crime Panel Meetings) (England & Wales) Regulations 2020, on 
Wednesday, 27 January 2021 at 6.30 pm. 
 

PRESENT 

  
B Alcock (Chairman) 

M D Booth (Vice-Chairman) 
 

 

J R Astill 
C J T H Brewis 
T A Carter 
A C Cronin 
 

J L King 
J D McLean 
N H Pepper 
P A Redgate 
 

G P Scalese 
A C Tennant 
J Tyrrell 
S C Walsh 
 

  
 
In Attendance:  Councillor A M Newton, the Director (Acting), the Place Manager, the 
Executive Manager Governance, the Communities Manager, the Environmental 
Services Manager, the Housing Landlord Services Manager, the Planning and 
Building Control Manager, the Licensing and Business Support Manager, the Inward 
Investment Manager, the HR Manager, the Senior Change, Innovation and 
Performance Business Partner, the Head of Corporate Services (PSPS Ltd) the 
Democratic Services Team Leader and the Democratic Services Trainee. 
 
 

 
 Action By 

40 MINUTES   

  

 Consideration was given to the minutes of the meeting of the 
Performance Monitoring Panel held on 10 November 2020, and 
the minutes of the Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy 
Development Panel held on 17 November 2020. 
 

AGREED: 
 
a) That the minutes of the meeting of the Performance 

Monitoring Panel held on 10 November 2020 be signed by the 
Chairman as a correct record; and 

 
b) That the minutes of the meeting of the Joint Performance 

Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel held on 17 
November 2020 be signed by the Chairman as a correct 
record.  

 

   

41 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS.   

  

 There were none   

   

Page 5

Agenda Item 2a)



- 21 - 
 
PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 
27 January 2021 

 

 

 

42 QUESTIONS ASKED UNDER STANDING ORDER 6   

  

 There were none   

   

43 TRACKING OF RECOMMENDATIONS   

  

 There were none   

   

44 ITEMS REFERRED FROM THE POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL.  

 

  

 There were none   

   

45 KEY DECISION PLAN   

  

 Consideration was given to the Key Decision Plan issued on 19 
January 2021. 
 

Members noted a spelling error on one of the items that would be 
rectified by Democratic Services after the meeting. 
 
AGREED: 
 
That the Key Decision Plan issued on 19 January 2021 be noted.  

 

   

46 Q3 PERFORMANCE REPORT   

  

 Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Manager 
for Growth, which provided an update on how the Council was 
performing for the period 1 October 2020 to 31 December 2020. 
 

The Quarter 3 2020-21 Performance Report detailed in Appendix 
A aimed to provide members, businesses, and residents with an 
overview of how the Council was performing against a number of 
key strategic indicators in an ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. The 
reported indicators focussed on performance and business 
intelligence as compared to the previous year to highlight how key 
services had performed whilst the organisation had continued to 
respond to the challenges and pressures that the pandemic had 
presented to both the organisation and the district as a whole. 
 
As highlighted previously the report did not contain a suite of 
performance indicators to the same scale and breadth as 
presented to the Panel in previous years. This was because, in 
many cases, the focus of many council services and their 
attendant resources had shifted away from pre-March 2020 
‘business as usual activity’, and were instead now focused on a 
different range of areas directly aligned to supporting the council 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



- 22 - 
 
PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 
27 January 2021 

 

 

 

with its pandemic response. 
 
Consequently, the report sought to provide a summary of 
performance in key areas which reflected the current performance 
of the council, whilst the organisation remained focused on 
supporting its communities, residents and local business in extra-
ordinary times. The narrative within the report provided 
supplementary commentary to support the data. Several service 
managers were in attendance at the meeting and would be able 
to assist with any supplementary questions. 
 
The Panel considered the report, and the following issues were 
raised: 
 
Fly-tipping: 
 

 Members commented that it may be useful to be provided 
with an update on success with enforcement in relation to 
fly-tipping recently and how the issue of fly-tipping was 
being dealt with County-wide. 

 

 Members asked for clarification on how much money has 
been spent on fly-tipping in the last month. 

o Officers responded that for December 2019 the cost 
for fly-tipping was £3,000. For the same period in 
December 2020, the figure was double that at 
£6,000. 

o Officers would share with members a breakdown of 
the figures for fly-tipping costs over the last few 
months. 

 

 Members raised concerns about the collection of evidence 
for fly-tipping incidents and asked whether covert cameras 
were being used to catch fly-tippers ‘in the act’.  

o Officers advised that the use of covert cameras 
would be covered in a later item on the agenda.  

 
Social media engagement: 
 

 Members queried the basis of collection for the number of 
social media engagements stated within the report. 

o Officers responded that the social media 
engagement numbers were collected via Google 
Analytics and that the basis for this information 
would be clarified  

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CP  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CG  

Page 7



- 23 - 
 
PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 
27 January 2021 

 

 

 

Void properties: 
 

 Members noted that there had been a dramatic fall in the 
re-let time for void properties and questioned whether this 
was related to the Covid pandemic? 

o Officers agreed that there been a significant 
variance in voids performance between the Q3 
performance this year and the same period last 
year.  The reasons for this were two-fold – 1) the 
number of void properties that had presented 
themselves this year was higher than in previous 
years – there had been an increased level in certain 
property types being returned which was related to 
an increased level of deceased tenants who had 
resided within them;  and 2) there had been an 
increase in void turnaround times as a result of 
allowing additional time between tradespeople 
undertaking the work, in order to adhere to safe 
Covid working practices. Works had also been 
undertaken on voids that would normally have taken 
place when properties were tenanted, again to 
reduce the number of tradespeople entering 
properties with tenants in them. The situation was 
being monitored closely, and officers were balancing 
a number of priorities to ensure that work was 
undertaken as efficiently as possible. 

 
Bulky Waste Collections: 
 

 Members expressed concern about longer waiting times for 
bulky waste collection but were happy that a new system 
had been put in place to bring these waiting times down. 

o Officers responded that the bulky waste collections 
were being increased from 2 to 3 collections a week 
for hazardous waste and that this was being 
monitored in order that resources could be used 
effectively. 

 

 Members asked if bulky waste collections were only being 
carried out from residential properties 

o Officers confirmed that this was the case. 
 
AGREED: 
 
That the report be noted.  
 

   

Page 8



- 24 - 
 
PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 
27 January 2021 

 

 

 

47 PMP ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT/INWARD INVESTMENT 
UPDATE  

 

  

 Consideration was given to the report of the Deputy Leader of the 
Council and the Portfolio Holder for Growth and 
Commercialisation which provided an update to the Panel on 
current work being undertaken to support the South Holland 
economy. 
 

The Inward Investment Manager gave an update on this item, and 
the following points were covered: 
 

 The team had been focused on the distribution of 
government grants for businesses, including the small 
business grant and the retail, hospitality and leisure grant, 
which closed for applications at the end of August 2020, 
and were processed until the end of September 2020. 

 In total 1,654 businesses had received a share of £18.5m 
in government grant money. 

 The next round of funding was the local restrictions support 
grant (closed), designed to support businesses who were 
mandated to close as a result of government guidelines, 
and was based on the rateable value of the business. 
£3.8m has now been distributed via this grant. 

 The local restrictions support grant (open) had been 
announced for businesses that were not mandated to 
close, for which 197 applications had been received. These 
applications were currently being worked through and they 
would be paid within a few days. 

 There would be a further scheme of grants for businesses 
mandated to close under the lockdown effective from 5 
January 2021 

 Grants4growth had continued to deliver its outputs on 
budget and on time. 

 Contact has been established with the office of the 
Department for International Trade in the Netherlands, and 
the team were working closely with them to promote 
Lincolnshire through a Food Manufacturing Automation 
and Robotics High Potential Opportunity. 

 Work was also being carried out with a number of local 
business expansions, mainly based in the agri-food sector. 

 
The Panel considered the report, and the following issues were 
raised: 
 

 Members commented on how easy it had been to direct 
residents to the appropriate individuals for help with 
applying for grants and ensuring all grants were paid out as 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



- 25 - 
 
PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 
27 January 2021 

 

 

 

quickly and efficiently as possible, and thanked the team 
for their efforts. 

 

 Members questioned whether officers were confident that 
resources were adequate to maximise all of the 
opportunities that were being offered as part of the High 
Potential Opportunity scheme. 

o Officers responded that the High Potential 
Opportunity was a Lincolnshire-wide project, but that 
it was based primarily in the south of Lincolnshire, in 
Spalding and South Holland. 

o Officers were contributing to a presentation that 
would promote Lincolnshire business opportunities 
across the world. 

o In order to put the presentation together, resources 
were being utilised from the University of Lincoln, 
Lincolnshire County Council, the Department of 
International Trade, and experts in the field. 

 

 Members asked if there was anything that the authority 
could do further to improve the service of the department, 
both in helping businesses to recover and to attract new 
businesses to the district. 

o Officers replied that as the response phase of 
helping businesses in need to access grants came 
to an end, swift action was required to put in place 
assistance to help businesses and the economy to 
recover. The government had given the Authority a 
time-limited budget for which officers explained half 
was for helping business needs at the present time, 
and the other half was for helping businesses to 
recover in the future. 

 

 Members questioned if the department was still engaging 
with young people in the district to help them develop the 
skills needed for businesses in the district. 

o Officers responded that there were a lot of people 
who were currently furloughed, that may become 
unemployed when the furlough scheme ended in 
April 2021. Conversations were being had with local 
colleges to make sure that skills that were being 
taught were those needed for businesses in the 
area. 

 

 Members asked for further information about the 
percentage of people who were already receiving benefits 
but were now also receiving Universal Credit. 

o Officers responded that Universal Credit figures 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



- 26 - 
 
PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 
27 January 2021 

 

 

 

were not straightforward, as they contained more 
than one reason as to why people were accessing 
Universal Credit. Some of the figures included 
individuals who, although still employed, were 
furloughed, and their income had fallen into the 
threshold for claiming Universal Credit - this 
explained why the numbers had increased. 

o The latest figures would be circulated to all 
members when they became available. 

o Officers confirmed that the Regional Manager for 
DWP, had offered to attend a future meeting of the 
Panel to explain Universal Credit, and other projects 
that the DWP were currently working on. 

 

 Members asked how many applications had been received 
for the Discretionary Grant that applied to businesses that 
did not pay business rates, but paid service charges. 

o Officers confirmed that 197 businesses had applied 
for this grant and it was hoped that some 
businesses that did not pay business rates would be 
assisted within those applications. 

 

 Members queried whether there was a small fund identified 
to help businesses that were not mandated to close by 
government guidelines. 

o Officers explained that the government had 
committed to covering 100% of the costs of grants 
paid out to businesses that were mandated to close. 
For other businesses, a sum of money has been 
given to cover support over the next 18 months. A 
total of £2.7m had been allocated to the authority to 
use to help businesses that were not mandated to 
close. 

 

 Members asked whether businesses that had applied for 
funding previously would have to apply again, following the 
latest lockdown. 

o Officers confirmed that businesses would not need 
to apply a second time, and that their first 
application would be sufficient. 

 

 Members asked for an update on the work of the Business 
and Economy subgroup of the Lincolnshire Resilience 
Forum. 

o Officers explained that the group had been set up to 
allow district councils across Lincolnshire, and the 
County Council, to feed into it.  It was used to share 
intelligence across the county, and as a forum for a 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
NB  
 
CM, NB  

Page 11



- 27 - 
 
PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 
27 January 2021 

 

 

 

county-wide strategy for economic recovery. The 
group also enabled government funding to be 
secured for the Holbeach Food Enterprise Zone.  

 
AGREED: 
 
That the report be noted.  

   

48 CRIME AND DISORDER PARTNERSHIP UPDATE   

  

 Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director – 
Commercialisation (S151) which provided members with an 
update on Community Safety Partnership work at a county and 
local level. 
 

The Communities Manager provided an update, which included 
the following points: 
 

 The four key priorities for the Safer Lincolnshire 
Partnership were: Anti-Social Behaviour, Domestic Abuse, 
Reducing Offending and Serious and Organised Crime 

 Fly tipping was a key area of focus through the Anti-Social 
Behaviour Core Priority Group – crossover work was being 
done with the Waste Partnership with regard to 
identification and clean up and also prevention, 
enforcement and understanding where issues were coming 
from.  The Anti-Social Behaviour Core Priority Group had 
set up an Environmental Crime Partnership for Lincolnshire 
which would look at the capture of data, hotspots, social 
media messages and sharing of intelligence.  It had also 
set up a task group to look at the customer journey when 
reporting anti-social behaviour incidents.  

 The Domestic Abuse Core Priority Group had a focus on 
domestic abuse within the County.  A new Domestic 
Violence Bill had been passed in Parliament recently which 
created a cross-government statutory definition of domestic 
abuse, and which put in place a statutory framework for the 
delivery of support to victims of domestic abuse.  

 Work was ongoing with the Reducing Offending Core 
Priority Group, with a current focus on homelessness and 
access to housing for people leaving custody. 

 Lincolnshire had been chosen (as one of two areas 
nationally) by the Home Office to pilot a multi-agency 
safeguarding approach to financial abuse. 

 Key work would be taking place around the placement of 
CCTV cameras and exploring the possibilities of further 
analysis of the data provided by them. 

 Member were advised that Superintendent Mark Howsley 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



- 28 - 
 
PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 
27 January 2021 

 

 

 

had offered to attend a future meeting of the Panel to 
answer questions about crime related issues.  

 
The Panel considered the report, and the following issues were 
raised: 
 

 Members were happy that statistics were now available for 
CCTV cameras but questioned the limited use of some of 
the cameras. 

 

 Members were encouraged by the work being carried out 
to place cameras in remote areas. 

 

 Members asked whether fly-tipping was included in the 
customer journey for anti-social behaviour, as concern had 
been raised by some residents that it was difficult to report 
a fly-tip and send evidence. 

 

 Members questioned if there was a level of information 
available for hare coursing. 

o Officers responded that this issue could be 
addressed by the Superintendent when he attended 
a future meeting of the Panel. 

 

 Members also requested further information on statistics 
for Covid related crimes. 

 

 Members were concerned that when calling 999, residents 
were sometimes transferred to Norfolk Police rather than 
Lincolnshire Police. 
 

 Members raised concern that reported anti-social 
behaviour had not always been followed up by authorities. 

 

 Members asked whether residents who reported being 
victims of a crime were able to retain their anonymity. 

o Officers responded that crimes could be reported 
anonymously either to the local authority or to the 
Police.  

 
Officers advised that many of the issues raised by members could 
be addressed by Superintendent Howsley at a separate meeting, 
and it was agreed that a special meeting of the Panel be arranged 
for this purpose. 
 
AGREED: 
 
a) That the report be noted; and 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CM  

Page 13



- 29 - 
 
PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 
27 January 2021 

 

 

 

 
b) That Superintendent Mark Howsley be invited to a special meeting 

of the Performance Monitoring Panel to answer areas of concern 
raised by members.  

   

49 CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT UPDATE   

  

 Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director – 
Commercialisation (S151) which provided members with an 
update on enforcement activity. 
 

The Communities Manager highlighted the following points: 
 

 A business in South Holland had had its licence revoked by 
the Licensing Panel, following a police investigation that 
had found that it had breached Covid Regulations. 

 The Public Protection Team had been ensuring Covid 
compliance within businesses, and were leading on the 
regulatory enforcement of Covid Regulations and providing 
statutory guidance to business premises. 

 The Public Protection Team had also been involved in the 
work of the Lincolnshire Resilience Forum 

 There had been an increased number of Planning 
Enforcement complaints being reported, although there 
had been delays with regard to prosecutions as a result of 
Magistrates Courts being closed for a lengthy period as a 
result of the Covid pandemic. 

 Housing officers had undertaken enforcement against 
slightly more cases in the current year than the last year, 
and the team had continued to carry out property 
inspections. 

 An interim injunction had been obtained by the 
Communities team against an individual who had caused 
significant distress and harassment to both members of the 
public and officers of the Council. 

 11 cases of fly-tipping were pending interviews, which 
would enable further notices to be issued and court files to 
be built. 

 
The Panel considered the report, and the following issues were 
raised: 
 

 Members were concerned that reported cases of fly-tipping 
with clear evidence were not being followed up.  

o Officers reassured Members that if there were cases 
of fly-tipping with clear evidence attached that had 
not been followed up, these should be referred 
again to the Enforcement team and would be looked 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



- 30 - 
 
PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 
27 January 2021 

 

 

 

into. 
 

 Members requested information on how a recent increase 
in dog fouling in the district was being dealt with. 

o Officers responded that they did not have the 
information to hand at the meeting but would contact 
members of the Panel regarding the issue shortly. 

 

 Members commented that a number of high-profile 
prosecutions for fly-tipping could assist in discouraging 
others from fly-tipping. 

 
 
AGREED: 
 
That the report be noted.  

 
 
 
 
 
EH  

   

50 PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL WORK PROGRAMME   

  

 Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Manager – 
Governance which set out the Work Programme of the 
Performance Monitoring Panel. The Work Programme consisted 
of two separate sections, the first setting out the dates of the 
future panel meetings along with proposed items for 
consideration, and the second setting out the Task Groups that 
had been identified by the Panel. 
 

It was noted that a number of items previously scheduled for the 
January meeting had been moved to the March meeting and that 
meeting dates for 2021/22 would be added to Appendix A for the 
next meeting of the Panel. A date for the Review of Implemented 
Planning Decisions had been scheduled for the 15 September 
2021, subject to Covid Regulations. 
 
The Panel considered the report and the following issues were 
raised: 
 

 As considered under the Crime and Disorder agenda item, 
members requested that a special meeting of the Panel be 
arranged with   Superintendent Mark Howsley to address 
members’ concerns. 

 
AGREED: 
 
That the report be noted.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CM  

   

Page 15



- 31 - 
 
PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 
27 January 2021 

 

 

 

51 UNTIDY SITES   

  

 Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director – 
Commercialisation (S151) which provided an update on untidy 
sites within the district. 
 

The Communities Manager highlighted the following points: 
 

 Where a site was in a poor condition, and its condition 
adversely affected the amenity of the area, Section 215 of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 gave the power 
to local authorities to take steps to require that the land and 
buildings  be tidied. A notice could be served on the owner, 
which set out steps that were required to be taken, and the 
time in which these steps must be carried out. 

 Local Authorities also had the powers under this act to 
undertake clean-up work themselves and recover the costs 
from the landowner. 

 Planning Permission had been granted for a majority of the 
sites listed in the appendix, but the developers had not 
implemented the permissions for various reasons.  

 A Commercial Derelict Buildings and Disused and Derelict 
Land Enforcement Policy was being drafted to help ensure: 

o Consistency across departments when responding 
to complaints relating to derelict buildings, disused 
and derelict land 

o To ensure all contact was recorded on a centralised 
database 

o To ensure a co-ordinated response to complainants 

o To allow enforcement action to quickly be identified 
o To notify external agencies 
o To keep Ward Members updated. 

 The draft Policy had been circulated to relevant teams 
within the Council and would be scrutinised by the Policy 
Development Panel in due course. 

 
The Panel considered the report, and the following issues were 
raised: 
 

 Members raised concern that schemes for redevelopment 
of the sites that had gone through the planning process 
were then declared not viable, and redevelopment had 
therefore not taken place. 

 

 Members questioned how the Council could break the 
cycle of untidy sites not being redeveloped and what work 
was being undertaken to address this. 

o Officers agreed that a working group would be set 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CM  

Page 16



- 32 - 
 
PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 
27 January 2021 

 

 

 

up involving officers and 2 members of the Panel, 
and the work of this group would be reported to the 
Panel at a later date. 

 

 Members enquired as to why the sites listed within the 
appendix were not being compulsory purchased by the 
Council. 

o Officers responded that powers were available to 
the Council to compulsory purchase properties, but 
this required the Secretary of State’s approval and a 
well-developed scheme to be in place. 

 

 Members were concerned that some schemes for these 
sites that would be put in place could render the site 
worthless. 

 

 Members questioned whether a multi-agency group could 
be set up to help redevelop some of the sites and a 
strategy put in place for redeveloping them. 

 

 Members asked whether the Council could engage with 
local developers to encourage strategies to be developed 
for these sites. 

 
AGREED: 
 
That the report be noted.  

   

52 ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
URGENT  

 

  

 There were none.   

   

 
(The meeting ended at 8.45 pm) 
 
(End of minutes) 
 
 
 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



- 33 - 
 

 

Minutes of a meeting of the PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL held in line with 
The Local Authorities & Police & Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local 
Authority & Police & Crime Panel Meetings) (England & Wales) Regulations 2020, on 
Tuesday, 9 February 2021 at 5.00 pm. 
 

PRESENT 

  
B Alcock (Chairman) 

M D Booth (Vice-Chairman) 
 

 

J R Astill 
C J T H Brewis 
T A Carter 
A C Cronin 
 

M Hasan 
J L King 
J D McLean 
N H Pepper 
 

P A Redgate 
A C Tennant 
J Tyrrell 
S C Walsh 
 

  
 
In Attendance:  Councillors Beal and Rudkin, the Portfolio Holder for Assets and 
Planning, the Executive Manager for Growth, the Executive Manager for 
Governance, the Strategic Housing Manager and Housing Landlord Services 
Manager, the Democratic Services Manager and the Democratic Services Team 
Leader. 
 
Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors G P Scalese 
and D J Wilkinson.  
 
 
 Action By 

53 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE.   

  

 Notification had been received that Councillor M Hasan was 
replacing Councillor D Wilkinson for this meeting only.  

 

   

54 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS.   

  

 There were no declarations of interest.   

   

55 PORTFOLIO HOLDER DECISION - PROPERTY ACQUISITION 
TO SUPPORT THE NEXT STEPS ACCOMMODATION 
PROGRAMME  

 

  

 Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Manager 
Governance which presented to the Panel the option for pre-
decision scrutiny of the Portfolio Holder Decision relating to 
property acquisition to support the Next Steps Accommodation 
Programme.   
 
In accordance with Paragraph 15, Part 4D (Access to Information 

Procedure Rules) of the Constitution, where any Executive 

Decision (whether Key Decision or Non-Key Decision) is subject 

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 2b)



- 34 - 
 
PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 9 
February 2021 

 

 

 

to external (e.g. Government) deadlines such that it is not 

possible for the decision to be subject to the usual call-in 

procedure, the proposed decision may instead be subject to a 

pre-decision scrutiny by the Performance Monitoring Panel, 

subject to: 

 

 the Leader, Deputy Leader, relevant Portfolio Holder or (where 

the decision will be taken by an officer) the relevant officer 

being in attendance at the meeting of the Panel to answer 

relevant questions; 

 the Performance Monitoring Panel being required to set out in 

writing any concerns about the proposed decision; 

 the decision-maker then making the final decision, taking into 

account any concerns raised by the Panel, and the final 

decision notice explaining the decision in relation to the 

concerns raised by the panel; 

 the decision taking effect immediately the decision is made 

 

Given the external timeframes that had to be adhered to 

(acquisition properties had to be within SHDC’s ownership and 

available for occupation by 31 March), the call-in process would 

put the grant funding associated with the decision at risk.  The 

pre-decision scrutiny process, as detailed above, was therefore 

deemed necessary. 

 

The ultimate decision maker, the Portfolio Holder for Assets and 

Planning, was in attendance at the meeting. 

 

The Strategic Housing Manager provided the Panel with some 

background to the situation pertaining to the proposed Portfolio 

Holder Decision: 

 

In July 2020, MHCLG (the Ministry of Housing, Communities and 

Local Government) announced a funding programme called the 

Next Steps Accommodation Programme with the aim of 

supporting the Government’s ambition to end rough sleeping.  

SHDC submitted a bid in August 2020, based on a notional 

scheme which followed MHCLG guidance.  SHDC was offered a 

capital grant allocation (to purchase accommodation) and 

revenue grant allocation (to support tenants).  The Council agreed 

to accept the allocation at its meeting in November 2020, and a 

Leader Decision was made, proposing a project mandate, and 

this became effective in December 2020. 

There had been ongoing engagement between SHDC and 

MHCLG/Homes England, before the bid was submitted and 

regularly thereafter. 

Page 20



- 35 - 
 
PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 9 
February 2021 

 

 

 

 

The project mandate was that the Authority would acquire 3 

existing properties, with the intention of potentially converting the 

properties to provide 9 units of non-self-contained 

accommodation.  A refurbishment programme would ensure that 

the properties were fully compliant, and that residents had access 

to their own private bedrooms, with shared kitchen and bathroom 

facilities.  The accommodation would be managed by SHDC, who 

were experienced in managing temporary accommodation.  

SHDC would maintain the outside spaces, and support would be 

in place to ensure the accommodation was managed to support 

residents to sustain their tenancies, and to provide effective 

management.  SHDC would use its own experience, and also 

look at how others across the country managed their projects, to 

ensure that best practice was achieved. 

 

In considering properties to be viewed, a number of property 

attributes were identified: 1) Location – Spalding was identified as 

the preferred location as it was close to services and amenities, 

as well as Holbeach; 2) Maximum price -  in accordance with 

Council approval and the budget provided; 3) Timescale – in line 

with the Homes England grant agreement; 4) Property type – to 

accommodate 3 units of accommodation in each property, semi-

detached or small detached properties would be suitable; 5) Plot 

considerations – these would not be large areas of land (in order 

to avoid high cost maintenance issues), or with communal areas; 

and 6) Surrounding areas – to ensure areas were suitable. 

 

With regard to the property search, officers were using a 

combination of online search tools, and liaising with estate agents 

to identify suitable properties.  Many properties were being 

advertised, 68 properties were considered, and 29 properties had 

been viewed.  Two properties were identified in December, 

decision reports were published, and the Authority was in the 

process of purchasing those properties.  In January, the property 

search was widened somewhat from the original list of attributes, 

to potentially include properties within a conveyancing chain. 

 

Members were advised of the current position regarding the three 

properties.  Two properties had already been identified – Property 

1 was located in the Spalding Wygate ward, and property 2 was 

within the Spalding St Mary’s ward.  Portfolio Holder Decisions for 

each of the properties had been made and were now effective, 

solicitors for both had been appointed, and officers were confident 

of completion on both by 31 March 2021.  

 

Page 21



- 36 - 
 
PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 9 
February 2021 

 

 

 

The purpose of the meeting was to discuss the potential third 

property that had been identified.  The property was in the 

Spalding Monkshouse ward.  It was a 3-bedroom house, 

marketed by an Estate Agent, and neither planning consent nor 

an HMO License were required.  Indicative project costs were 

within the agreed project mandate.  The property could be 

refurbished for SHDC’s proposed use – members were advised 

that the financial evaluation included within the exempt 

appendices was a ‘worst case scenario’ until a full assessment 

could be undertaken.  It was anticipated that the current bathroom 

would need to be replaced, with a possible need to replace the 

kitchen.  The vendors were aware of the SHDC approvals 

process for the acquisition. 

 

Proposed next steps were: 

 To continue the ongoing dialogue with Homes 

England/MHCLG; 

 Seek feedback from the Performance Monitoring Panel on the 

proposed third property; 

 The Portfolio Holder for Assets and Planning would review the 

feedback – if the decision was taken not to proceed to acquire 

the third property, officers would resume viewings to seek to 

identify an alternative property, and if the decision was taken 

to proceed to acquire the third property, the decision report 

would address the feedback from the Panel. 

 In all instances, officers would seek to renegotiate with 

MHCLG/Homes England to ensure that the funding could stay 

within the district, even if all 3 properties could not be 

purchased by 31 March 2021. 

 

Following the presentation, the following issues were raised:   

 

As ward member, Councillor Newton raised the following points: 
 

 The report stated that ward members had been consulted.  
Both she and her fellow ward member, Councillor Cronin, did 
not feel that the consultation had been sufficient. Consultation 
with ward members was always helpful as they had much 
local knowledge which could assist in the project. 

 One of the criteria (to consider properties with no chain) had 
been changed, due to the urgency in identifying a property – 
ward members had not been advised of this.   

 Officers had stated that they would potentially be requesting 
an extension of the Homes England deadline of 31 March.  If 
delays meant that occupation by that date was not now 
possible, why had it been necessary to call the meeting 

Page 22



- 37 - 
 
PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 9 
February 2021 

 

 

 

urgently? 

 One of the plot considerations was to avoid large gardens – 
this might pertain to the proposed property. 

 One of the criteria was to ensure that there was enough 
parking for residents – the proposed property did not meet this 
requirement. 

 The costings, within the exempt paperwork indicated that 
conversion to make the property fit for use by 3 people was 
nearly half as much again as the purchase cost of the 
property.  Was this good value for money? 

 An update on the potential re-negotiation of terms was 
requested. 

 Members had been made aware of the offer in July 2020.  In 
correspondence with officers, Councillor Newton was aware 
initially of a different scheme that had been identified, to buy 1 
property to contain 9 separate units – had this caused a delay, 
resulting in the current situation? 

o On the last point above, officers responded that the 
original bid had been based on a notional scheme, and 
there had never been an approved scheme to purchase 
another property.  Initially, officers were working on the 
basis of exploring a scheme of 9 units of 
accommodation however, MHCLG were more 
comfortable with the provision of dispersed properties, 
rather than 1 property containing 9 separate units.   

 
Other members were invited to comment, and the following points 
were raised: 
 

 There were concerns with regard to the timescales – 
regardless of whether the proposed third property was 
purchased, members did not believe that the two existing 
properties could be refurbished and inhabited by the deadline 
of 31 March. 

 If the funding was lost, would the Commercial Acquisition 
Fund be used to purchase the properties - Members were of 
the opinion that this would not be the best value use of the 
fund.  If funding was lost, the authority should withdraw from 
purchase of the properties. 

 Members asked at what stage the negotiations with Homes 
England were at, whether there would be a cost to the 
authority if a negotiated extension was not achieved, whether 
reduced pro-rata funding could be achieved in order to retain 
some funding, and whether there were any penalties incurred 
by not meeting the timescale. 

 The Chairman commented that he had agreed to an urgent 
meeting to accommodate pre-decision scrutiny in the belief 
that funding would be lost if the timescale was not met.  It 

Page 23



- 38 - 
 
PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 9 
February 2021 

 

 

 

appeared that there was some room for manoeuvre with the 
timescale that he had not been aware of. 

 
Officers responded to the points raised above as follows: 
 

o With regard to the timing, the legal agreement was very 
clear in that the authority had to complete by 31 March.  
The Strategic Housing Manager would attempt to 
negotiate a fall-back position should this not be 
achievable.   

o The Strategic Housing Manager commented that the 
Homes England Grant agreement stated categorically 
that the properties should be available for occupation 
by 31 March.  The authority wished to be in a position 
to discuss with Homes England and MHCLG a 
renegotiation of terms.  Should the authority be in a  
position where it had acquired properties 1 and 2 by 31 
March, even if occupation followed after this date, and if 
a third property had been secured with approval to 
proceed, the authority would be in a stronger position to 
negotiate timescales for delivery of the third property, 
with a view to retaining the grant within the district.  If 
no approval for the third property was reached, Homes 
England and MHCLG would have to be kept advised of 
the status of the project.  An alternative outcome could 
be that properties 1 and 2 were purchased by 31 
March, but not occupied by that date, and to seek 
retention of the grant within the district on a pro-rata 
basis, where there was no third property.   

o With regard to value for money, the acquisition costs 
and refurbishment costs were stated within the 
appendix.  The refurbishment costs were indicative and 
assumed a ‘worst case’ scenario, allowing for 
replacement of the existing bathroom and kitchen.  If 
the property was purchased, a more detailed survey 
would be undertaken which would establish the extent 
of any refurbishment required.  Officers commented 
that other properties that had been identified for 
purchase had had lower refurbishment costs but a 
higher purchase price. With regard to concerns about a 
return not being achieved on the property after 
purchase and refurbishment, members were advised 
that this was a long-term investment for the authority, 
that it was likely that the property would be retained by 
the authority for many years, and that the property, 
based on the assumed cost in the evaluation, did 
provide a return. 

 

Page 24



- 39 - 
 
PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 9 
February 2021 

 

 

 

 Members were supportive of the drive to reduce 
homelessness, and to use grant funding in the district 
effectively, but their concern was with the particular property 
that was proposed. 

 

 Although it had been stated that planning permission was not 
required, the spirit of the Local Plan required all HMOs 
(regardless of whether planning permission was required or 
not) to have reasonable parking facilities. The authority should 
itself abide with the spirit of, and the principles within the Local 
Plan. 

 
o In answer to members questions with regard to 

the difference between the first two properties, 
and property 3 under discussion, officers advised 
that there was very little difference in their layout 
and they were of a similar age.  Property 1 had 
been more expensive to acquire but had been 
refurbished prior to purchase, whereas property 
3 had not been refurbished.  At the end of the 
process, all properties would be of a similar 
standard and layout. 

 

 The report did not state the age of the property – there could 
be a number of issues to be addressed such as party walls, 
electrics, insulation, heating etc. – more information on such 
considerations was required.  

 

 Members had been advised that many properties had been 
identified, but that there was no explanation as to why some 
had been excluded, which would have assisted members in 
gaining an understanding of why property 3 had been chosen. 
There was not enough information to make a valued and 
distinct choice. 

 
o Officers responded that surveys and due diligence were 

not yet complete.  At this stage, the property was purely 
a proposal which met the attributes for consideration.  
The attributes directed officers to which type of property 
should be viewed.  With regard to the survey, due 
diligence was required on the whole property before 
acquisition.  Viewings had been undertaken, and the 
authority’s property officers had provided an 
assessment of work they believed should be 
undertaken.  With regard to the financial evaluation, 
there would always be unknown elements and there 
was therefore a robust contingency to allow for this.  
Officers had an understanding of some of the work that 

Page 25



- 40 - 
 
PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 9 
February 2021 

 

 

 

was required and there was also the knowledge that the 
property  would ultimately be utilised to full occupancy.   

 
AGREED: 
 
That the Portfolio Holder be notified, in writing, that the Panel’s 
view is that the property in question should not be purchased and 
that the Portfolio Holder should consider a more suitable property, 
with no chain and that does not require so much work, for the 
following reasons: 
 

i. Concerns with regard to the provision of parking at the 
location; 

ii. That the spirit of parking within the Local Plan in relation to 
parking facilities at a property used in this manner, should 
be adhered to; 

iii. Concern with regard to value for money and in particular, 
the high proportionate cost of works needed, compared to 
the acquisition cost;  

iv. That other, more suitable properties were, or had been 
available with no chain;  

v. That there should be no rush to acquire a property purely 
to meet the timescales set out in the grant agreement; and 

vi. That the views of Ward members did not appear to have 
been adequately reflected within the report.  

   

 
(The meeting ended at 6.05 pm) 
 
(End of minutes) 
 
 
 

Page 26



- 22 - 
 

 

Minutes of a meeting of the JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL AND 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in line with the Local Authorities & Police & 
Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority & Police & Crime Panel 
Meetings) (England & Wales) Regulations 2020, on Thursday, 21 January 2021 at 
6.30 pm. 
 

PRESENT 

  
B Alcock (Chairman) 

 
 

 

J R Astill 
J Avery 
A C Beal 
F Biggadike 
M D Booth 
C J T H Brewis 
T A Carter 
 

A C Cronin 
R A Gibson 
M Hasan 
J L King 
J D McLean 
N H Pepper 
P A Redgate 
 

G T D Rudkin 
G P Scalese 
A C Tennant 
J Tyrrell 
S C Walsh 
D J Wilkinson 
A R Woolf 
 

 

In Attendance: The Portfolio Holder for Finance, Strategy and Partnerships, the Place 
Manager, the Strategic Finance and Compliance Manager, the Strategic Finance 
Manager, the Interim Director (Acting), the Housing Landlord Services Manager, the 
Democratic Services Trainee and the Democratic Services Officer. 
 
 
 
 Action By 

7. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN   

  

 Councillor B Alcock was elected as Chairman for the duration of 
this meeting. 

 

   

8. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

  

 There were none.  

   

9. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   

  

 There were none.  

   

10. DRAFT BUDGET, MEDIUM TERM PLAN AND CAPITAL 
 STRATEGY (SCRUTINY)  

 

  

 Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Finance and the Executive Director Commercialisation (S151) 
which asked the Joint Panel to consider and scrutinise the Draft 
General Fund and Housing Revenue Account 2021/22 revenue 
and capital estimates and the Draft Financial Medium Term 
Strategy. 

 

Page 27

Agenda Item 2c)



- 23 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 21 January 2021 

 

 

 

 
The Joint Panel received a presentation from the Strategic 
Finance and Compliance Manager which outlined the following 
areas: 
 

 Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 

 General Fund Revenue & Capital 

 Council Tax levels 

 HRA Revenue & Capital 

 Reserves 
 
The Joint Panel were informed that the Treasury Management 
Policy was considered outside of the report by the Governance 
and Audit Committee on 14th January 2021 and would be 
presented to Cabinet as part of the final Budget paper. 
 
Following consideration of the report and the presentation, the 
following issues were raised: 
 
o Members highlighted the risks and uncertainties around 

whether the powers stations were rated or un-rated, and 
whether one of them would be coming on stream to pay 
business rates. The Strategic Finance and Compliance 
Manager informed the Panel that the uncertainty was around 
the Long Sutton power station and what the future operating of 
the station would be.  Conversations were being held with the 
Administrators. 

 
o Members asked, for the interest payments of the loan given by 

the Government to purchase council housing stock, and what 
percentage of the Housing Revenue Account expenditure that 
represented for 2021/22?  The Strategic Finance and 
Compliance Manager confirmed that the interest on the 
Housing Revenue expenditure was £2,348,000 and the 
proportion it represented for 2021/22 was 19%. 

 
o Was the Sutton Bridge power station currently paying 

business rates? The Strategic Finance and Compliance 
Manager would refer back to the team and inform the Panel 
after the meeting. 
 

o Was the new Spalding power station paying business rates?  
The power station extension had now been added to the rating 
list and backdated to July 2019. The team were in the process 
of administering Business Rate bills. 
 

o Members asked, with regards to the Capital Programme, were 

Page 28



- 24 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 21 January 2021 

 

 

 

the amounts allocated to Assets and Property (Priory Road 
projects) necessary?  The Capital programme items were 
being reviewed.  Some work e.g air conditioning installation 
was being carried out while other projects were currently being 
assessed.   
 

o Members enquired why the Moulton Park project had not been 
added to the Budget? The Interim Director informed the Panel 
that Moulton Park was not currently at a position to be added 
into the budget and a workable, sustainable solution was 
being looked at with Moulton Park being a self-funded asset at 
no cost to the public purse. 
 

o Members asked why the £7k roofs budget for the Industrial 
units at Sutton Bridge had been removed from the Capital 
budget?  The Strategic Finance and Compliance Manager 
stated that £100k was approved for this in the previous year 
which was still committed to the scheme, with £7k listed for 
2020/21 and £93k for 2021/22. 
 

o Was a reduction anticipated in the funding provided by the 
Government?  The Strategic Finance and Compliance 
Manager informed the Panel that there was not enough 
intelligence at this time to understand whether this would be 
the case as the new methodology had not been developed 
and was still under consultation. 
 

o Members enquired whether the additional £4k included in the 
Spalding Special Expenses 21/22 budget related to Spalding 
Cemetary?  The Strategic Finance and Compliance Manager 
informed the Panel that the £4k was to cover any increased 
revenue running costs for all services within Spalding Special 
Expenses.  The Interim Director also informed the Panel that a 
working group which included Councillors Grocock, Coupland 
and Sneath, had been set up to look at the expenditure 
needed on the Cemetery.   
 

o Members queried Leisure Facilities Business rates were not 
anticipated during negotiations for the new contract?  The 
Place Manager informed the Panel that this was a contractual 
issue that was being discussed with the current Contractor.  
The Place Manager would provide an update to the Panel at a 
later date in terms of the progression of the matter. 
 

o With regards to rates payable as a result of the siting of 
markets, had any work been carried out to look at whether the 
rates could be exempt? The Place Manager informed the 

Page 29



- 25 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 21 January 2021 

 

 

 

Panel that due to the changes with Covid, business rates on 
the market had been paused  as the Council were no longer 
putting up market stalls and traders were doing this 
themselves.   
 

o Had any additional funding been added for fly tipping?  The 
Place Manager informed the Panel that at December 2020, 
there had been a rise in the incidence of fly tipping of 180%. 
The Strategic Finance and Compliance Manager would 
forward the financial information to Councillor Tyrrell after the 
meeting. 

 
o With the Drainage Boards being under pressure, due to the 

increased rainfall in recent months, had any additional 
assistance been included within the budget to assist?  The 
Portfolio Holder for Finance informed the Panel that, like the 
Council, the Drainage Boards ran reserves for use when 
required.  The amount of money paid to the four Drainage 
Boards this year was more than half the amount of Council 
Tax collected.  Both the Council and landowners contributes 
towards the IDBs (45% and 55% respectively). The Authority 
met each year with the Drainage Boards to agree upon the 
levy to be charged.  It was stated that the service provided by 
the Drainage Board was good value for money.  It was stated 
that a review of the way in which the monies were levied was 
required, and members would be pursuing this.  
 

o Members requested an update on the ICT programmes for a 
future Performance Monitoring Panel meeting to look at the 
infrastructure and costs associated with the Digital strategy. 
 

o Members asked whether there was a risk in losing receipts in 
relation to Right To Buy? How did we ensure that in 
purchasing housing stock SHDC received value for money?  
The Strategic Finance and Compliance Manager informed the 
Panel that there were time constraints attached to Right to Buy 
receipts. but there had been an extension due to the Covid 
situation, and this was being monitored.    The Housing 
Landlord Services Manager informed the Panel that in relation 
to the purchase of Housing stock, a thorough appraisal 
process  would be undertaken in assessing the schemes, 
which would look at a number of key components before 
approval of the purchase to ensure value for money. 
 

o Members asked whether the reduction in Land Charges 
income was due to private enterprises offering the land 
charges searches at reduced rates and if so, what could be 

Page 30



- 26 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 21 January 2021 

 

 

 

done to counteract this?  The Strategic Finance and 
Compliance Manager informed the Panel that the reduced 
income was not due to private enterprises offering the service 
at a lower price, rather that part of the service was free, and 
that individuals could choose to undertake the search 
themselves.  Therefore, a change in demand for the service 
had led to the income reduction. 

 
AGREED: 
 
a) That the report be noted; and 
 
b) That the Cabinet should consider the following issues going 

forward: 
 

 Revenue Estimates for the General Fund, Housing 
Revenue Account 2021/22, as set out in Appendices A, 
B and C; 

 Reserves position 2021/22 to 2024/24 as set out in 
Appendix D; 

 Capital Programme 2021/22 to 2024/25 as set out in 
Appendix E; 

 Capital Strategy as set out in Appendix F; 

 Fees and Charges Schedule as set out in Appendix G. 
   

11. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
 URGENT  

 

  

 There were none.  

   

 
(The meeting ended at 7.34 pm) 
 
(End of minutes) 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



- 27 - 
 

 

Minutes of a meeting of the JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL AND 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in line with the Local Authorities & Police & 
Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority & Police & Crime Panel 
Meetings) (England & Wales) Regulations 2020, on Tuesday, 9 February 2021 at 
6.30 pm. 
 

PRESENT 

  
 
 

 

B Alcock 
J R Astill 
J Avery 
A C Beal 
F Biggadike 
M D Booth 
C J T H Brewis 
T A Carter 
 

A C Cronin 
R A Gibson 
M Hasan 
J L King 
J D McLean 
N H Pepper 
P A Redgate 
G T D Rudkin 
 

G P Scalese 
S-A Slade 
A C Tennant 
J Tyrrell 
S C Walsh 
D J Wilkinson 
A R Woolf 
 

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors J L Reynolds  
 
In Attendance:  Councillor A M Newton, the Head of Paid Service and Strategic 
Advisor, the Executive Director Commercialisation (S151), the Executive Manager - 
Governance, the Democratic Services Manager and the Democratic Services Team 
Leader. 
 
 
 
 Action By 

12. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN   

  

 Councillor Alcock was elected chairman for the duration of the 
meeting. 

 

   

13. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   

  

 There were no declarations of interest.  

   

14. INTEGRATED SHARED MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE AND 
 JOINT WORKING ARRANGEMENTS REVIEW - PREFERRED 
 OPTION FOR BRECKLAND AND SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT 
 COUNCILS  

 

  

 Consideration was given to the report of the Head of Paid Service 
and Strategic Advisor which set out the recommendations from 
Stage One of the Review of the future of the Integrated Shared 
Management Structure and Joint Working Arrangements between 
Breckland and South Holland District Councils. 
 
The Head of Paid Service and Strategic Advisor provided 

 

Page 33

Agenda Item 2d)



- 28 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 9 February 2021 

 

 

 

members with an overview of the report’s content.  Members were 
then provided the opportunity to feed back, and the following 
issues were raised: 
 

 As many staff and members were currently working remotely, 
could the Authority consider the option of a partnership with 
another authority further afield, given the advantages and 
efficiencies of working remotely? 

o Officers responded that there were clearly strong 
arguments for being in partnership with another 
organisation however, as the difficulties in 
responding to the Covid pandemic for the two 
authorities across different counties had 
demonstrated, if the partnership was not relatively 
local, it made the partnership less meaningful.  
However, as a result of having to work differently, 
there had been additional learning that could be 
taken forward. 

 Members responded that with regard to remote working, it was 
important to evaluate how the current arrangements had 
worked, and to learn from both the negative and positive 
aspects of this, should this way of working continue. 

 

 Members felt that it was not clear where the figures quoted 
within the report had come from.  It was felt that it was 
weighted towards the preferred option, with not much 
background – how had the weightings been arrived at?  How 
could the Authority measure its ambitions within a new 
partnership when the type of partnership was not yet known? 

o Officers stated that there had been a lot of work 
undertaken that supported the report, and this 
process was explained. Initially, an appraisal had 
been undertaken by the Directors individually within 
both organisations, which had then been considered 
by them, together with the Head of Paid Service and 
Strategic Adviser, to compare and contrast the 
information and to provide some substance.  Each 
option had been ranked against criteria, as either 
high, medium or low, and these had then been 
converted to the final scoring of 3, 2 ,1.  This 
information has been brought together with political 
weighting, initially undertaken separately by the 
Cabinets at each authority, with an agreed political 
weighting and consensus then being arrived at 
during a joint meeting of both. The purpose had not 
been to assess a particular partnership or stand-
alone model, rather to evidence what was required, 

Page 34



- 29 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 9 February 2021 

 

 

 

and what it would be expected to deliver.  This was 
done by looking at what had already been achieved 
by the current shared arrangements, case study 
information from across local government, and the 
organisations’ aspirations with regard to taking the 
preferred option forward.  With regard to the quantity 
of data currently available, this could not be 
elaborated upon until a detailed business case 
stage was arrived at.  At the current stage therefore, 
the report could only include assumptions of what 
could be achieved, to take forward to any future 
proposed partners. In summary, what was laid out 
within the report reflected what was achievable with 
having a partnership that was closer to home, based 
on case studies and the authorities’ own 
experiences of working together. There was 
currently no business case for what was set out 
within the report however, the recommendations 
within the report were to explore the option at this 
stage, not to implement.  The expectation when 
negotiating a new partnership would therefore be, to 
lay out the criteria, that it was believed that this was 
the right option for South Holland going forward, and 
that any preferred partners would be expected to 
deliver to this level of aspiration. 

 

 Members asked why there was not more of a marked 
difference between a stand-alone scenario, and a new 
partnership?   

o Officers advised that many of the areas to be 
achieved could be done as either a stand-alone 
authority, or as a new partnership.  However, a local 
strategic partnership would provide extra capacity 
and impact to deliver the required improvements, as 
had been demonstrated by South Holland’s  
partnership with Breckland.   

 

 With regard to political weighting, why was there a difference 
between South Holland’s and Breckland’s figures? 

o Officers referenced table 6 within the report, which 
set out the weighting of the options appraisal criteria 
– the outcomes from the separate informal Cabinet 
meetings had shown that although there was a lot of 
similarity, there had been some slight differences in 
some of the weightings for each authority.  When 
each option was then scored, as seen in tables 7 
and 8 and the appendices, if it was of political 

Page 35



- 30 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 9 February 2021 

 

 

 

importance, it increased its score.  With regard to 
table 6, the differences between Breckland and 
South Holland’s weighting figures  reflected the 
differing priorities for each authority – not all areas 
could be high priority and choices therefore had to 
be made. The objective scores and the political 
weightings were two separate influences.  

 

 Members questioned, when considering the information within 
tables 7 and 8, and the ‘as is’ option being the last, why was it 
being proposed that the joint arrangements end?  

o Officers explained that the ‘as is’ situation had 
received a low score in the evaluation because the 
opportunities from the joint arrangements had 
largely been achieved.  In addition, it had become 
clear that issues around partnership and place could 
be stronger if the strategic partnership was within 
the same area.  The current partnership involved 
authorities in two separate counties, which would be 
involved with community partners from within their 
respective areas.  In addition, the current 
partnership was 10 years old, and opportunities 
could now be achieved in different ways, i.e. there 
were opportunities for efficiencies where authorities 
shared the same providers of some Council 
services.  Members were assured however that the 
partnership with Breckland could in no way be seen 
as a failure, and it had achieved savings of almost 
£0.75 million per year.   

 

 In response to members’ comments with regard to the low 
amounts of funding received by authorities in rural areas, the 
Head of Paid Service and Strategic Adviser commented that 
South Holland had a reputation for seizing the agenda and 
making it its own, as borne out by its successful partnership 
with Breckland Council.  Until such time as increased funding 
may occur, the authority had the opportunity to move forward 
and gain greater opportunities for its local community by 
working together with closer neighbours. 

 

 At what point would the relationship between South Holland 
and Breckland be severed, and what would be the cost to 
South Holland if a new local partnership was not entered into 
immediately? 

o When the partnership was established in 2010, the 
Memorandum of Agreement had set out a number 
of responsibilities each authority would have to each 

Page 36



- 31 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 9 February 2021 

 

 

 

other if the partnership were to end.  The 
timeframes set out for a termination clause to be 
activated, followed by a period of 6 months.  It did 
not, and could not have specified the situation with 
regard to what to do next as an individual 
organisation.  The reasons for including some 
flexibility in the recommendations was to 
accommodate the situation where the process was 
able to move at a faster pace, and thus to bring the 
time frame forward.  However, as it stood, the 
Memorandum of Association laid out that the 
separation would take place six months from the 
date of decision.  This flexibility gave the opportunity 
for both authorities to support each other in a mutual 
fashion, with the under-pinning of the existing 
relationship in place until it was no longer required.  

o With regard to any new, future partnerships, it was 
important to signal serious intent by ensuring that 
the previous partnership was ending by activating 
the termination clause.  

o In relation to structure and costings (these were 
subject to a decision being taken regarding 
appointment of a Chief Executive – currently a Chief 
Executive had not been appointed until the situation 
was clearer), all costs were within budget provision. 
With regard to the cost in the interim, these were 
being worked on but would not cost more than the 
current cost for South Holland.  The only difference 
would be if the decision was made to appoint a 
stand-alone Chief Executive.  In relation to existing 
systems and contracts, these would be continued 
with both organisations through agreement in the 
Memorandum of  Association, until they could be 
taken in a new partnership by one of the authorities, 
or the contracts came to a natural end.     

 

 Members had concerns with regard to future joint working with 
local authorities.  Previous attempts to enter joint 
arrangements with local authorities, and more recently the 
Devolution agenda, had not been successful – had 
relationships improved? 

o The Head of Paid Service and Strategic Adviser 
commented that he was not familiar with any legacy 
issues. However, he stated that the local 
government landscape had changed dramatically.  
Financial challenges were great, necessitating the 
need for authorities to work together to be more 

Page 37



- 32 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 9 February 2021 

 

 

 

efficient.  In addition, opportunities had to be taken 
with regard to the Devolution agenda - district 
councils had to make their case as part of local 
government reorganisation, and based on 
geography within the area, single organisations 
would not meet MHCLG’s criteria for population 
size.  There was therefore now more pressure, and 
a greater appetite for authorities to find different 
ways of working, in a meaningful way. 

 

 There were concerns regarding the overall cost to the 
Authority, as, dependent on which authority officers chose to 
work with, it was likely that there would be some vacancies.  
Vacancies (in the short term) and workloads had to be 
covered.  In addition, part of the role of the Chief Executive 
had to be covered.  Members were sceptical that these issues 
could be contained within the existing budget, and that the 
workload involved in entering another partnership could be 
dealt with. 

o Officers responded that within the termination 
clause, there was a fair and reasonable approach to 
how joint staff (47 across both authorities) would be 
allocated.  It was important that both organisations 
were capable of running their services effectively.  
Informal engagement with staff was being 
undertaken where they could indicate their 
preference of authority, and this information was 
being considered against an interim structure.  
There was a high degree of correlation between the 
posts on offer at South Holland, and the number of 
staff who would want to work there.  However, the 
formal consultation process was not yet finished, but 
it was hoped that at implementation stage, there 
would not be a high number of vacancies. 

 Members responded that issues such as the potential loss of 
some skills that were available within the current partnership 
were a concern.  In addition, leaving the partnership with 
Breckland could be the first in a three stage process, to be 
followed by the search for a new local partner and then 
potentially devolution in the future. These were all large and 
difficult situations to manage in a period where staffing was 
stretched and there were concerns regarding capacity.  These 
processes required a high degree of expertise to manage, 
potentially over a number of years, and in addition to 
managing the high workloads involved in the day to day 
running of the authority. 

o Officers responded that the challenges and staff 

Page 38



- 33 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 9 February 2021 

 

 

 

capacity were recognised by both organisations, 
and there would be additional resources to support 
the ambition.  Some capacity could be brought in 
but this would not satisfy all areas.  Making 
decisions for the future at an early stage would put 
the authority at the forefront, and put it in control of 
the way forward.  In addition, undertaking the 
various hurdles ahead in stages would make the 
process more manageable and put the authority in 
the best possible situation for future changes. 

 

 Members asked whether the report being presented was a 
fait-accompli? 

o The Head of Paid Service and Strategic Advisor 
confirmed that he had been brought into the 
organisation as an independent individual, with no 
pre- determined view of the options being 
presented.  Both Cabinets had been clear that it was 
his role to provide an independent assessment, and 
view of the organisations’ options going forward, 
and to take both through this process.  Some 
options within the report did appear obvious, whilst 
others may not have been available at the time but 
were now. 

 

 Members questioned why the authority would wish to leave a 
relationship where savings were already being made, to enter 
another relationship that had not yet been established. 

o Officers confirmed that the savings quoted did not 
stop being available as they were included within 
the base budget.  In addition, there could be future 
savings available, that were not being made in the 
partnership currently.  With regard to ending the 
current arrangements before a new one was in 
place, officers explained that under the current 
shared management arrangements, most of the 47 
shared staff were employed by Breckland.  It was 
important for South Holland to establish their staff, 
and that with regard to future negotiations, to signal 
that the old arrangements were ending, and that 
affected staff were engaged in those discussions. 

 

 Members commented that by triggering the situation, the 
authority should not rush into another arrangement as a result, 
and be operating to another authority’s agenda.   

o Officers agreed, and pointed out that the reason for 
changes detailed at recommendation 2, to extend 

Page 39



- 34 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 9 February 2021 

 

 

 

the termination clause, was to assist with this 
situation.  Both organisations had to agree what was 
to the mutual benefit of the existing partnership, and 
the correct arrangement had to be in place for a new 
partner.   

 
AGREED: 
 
That, subject to the concerns raised by Panel members with 
regard to the overall cost of the process, the following 
recommendations, as detailed within the report, that had been 
supported by the Cabinet for consideration by Full Council, be 
supported: 
 
a) To approve the preferred option for the future of the integrated 

shared management structure and joint working arrangements 

between the two Councils as set out in paragraph 1.8 of this 

report; 

 
b) To activate clause 8 of the memorandum of agreement 

between Breckland District Council and South Holland District 

Council and authorise any extension or shortening of the 

timeframe set out in clause 8.6A by mutual agreement 

between the two parties, so far as may be considered 

appropriate by the Leaders, following consultation with their 

respective Cabinets;  

 
c) To approve for consultation the interim structures to support 

and enable the achievement of the preferred option for both 

Councils; and 

 
d) That subject to there being no material changes to the senior 

management structure following consultation with officers, 
delegated authority be given to the Head of Paid Service in 
consultation with the leader to implement the said structure.  

   

15. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
 URGENT  

 

  

 There were none.  

   

 
(The meeting ended at 7.45 pm) 
 
(End of minutes) 

Page 40



 
1 

 

 

    

KEY DECISION PLAN 
 

Issued – 4 March 2021 

  

 

Representations in respect of all the matters shown should be sent in writing, at least one week before the date or period the decision 
is likely to be made, to:  

 Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE 
Telephone: 01775 764626 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk 

 

The Key Decision Plan shows all Key decisions that the Council is likely to make over the next twelve months 
 
The Key Decision Plan is updated on a rolling basis and shows the decisions that will be considered and the date when the decision is 
expected to be made. In accordance with the Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed within this document, unless otherwise 
stated, come into force and may then be implemented on the expiry of a 5 working day call-in period  from the date of publication of 
any decision.   
 
Key decisions are: “A decision which, in relation to an executive function, has a significant effect on communities in two or more 
Wards of the Council and / or is likely to result in the Authority incurring expenditure, generating income or making savings in any 
single financial year above the threshold of £75,000 in respect of revenue expenditure and £180,000 in respect of capital expenditure.” 
 
Significant decisions are: 1. A decision made in connection with setting the Council Tax; 2. A decision to approve any matter relating 
to a Policy or Strategic Plan; 3. Any non-Executive decision which significantly affects the community in two or more wards or electoral 
divisions. Some of the decisions will be recommendations to full Council, particularly if they impact on the Budget and the Policy 
Framework (comprising of statutory plans and strategies) 
 

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

P
age 41

A
genda Item

 7

mailto:demservices@sholland.gov.uk


PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

 
2 

 

Portfolio Holder 
for HRA & 
Private Sector 
Housing 
 
Fire door and 
Compliance 
contract 
 

Fire door replacement and associated 
fire compliance works to sheltered 
schemes 
 

 
 
 
 

 Housing Landlord 
Manager, or any other 
officer with delegation  
 
Before 31 Mar 2021 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for HRA & 
Private Sector 
Housing 
 
Painting and 
Repairs 
 

To procure a contractor to undertake 
painting and repairs to the Councils 
housing stock 

 

 
 
 
 

 Housing Landlord 
Manager, or any other 
officer with delegation  
 
Before 31 Mar 2021 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for HRA & 
Private Sector 
Housing 
 
Energy efficiency 
works to council 
properties 
 

Funding has been made available to 
improve the energy efficiency to 
homes within South Holland. 
 

 
 
 
 

 Housing Landlord 
Manager, or any other 
officer with delegation  
 
Before 31 Mar 2021 
 

P
age 42



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

 
3 

 

Portfolio Holder 
for Assets & 
Planning 
 
Property 
acquisition to 
support Housing 
Options service 
delivery 
 

Acquisition of existing property. 
 

 
 
 
 

 Portfolio Holder for Assets 
& Planning, or Leader  
 
Before 31 Mar 2021 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for Assets & 
Planning 
 
Approval of 
Welland Homes 
dividend or 
charitable 
donation 
payment 
 

To approve a dividend or charitable 
donation by Welland Homes in 
accordance with the Company’s 
Dividend and Charitable Donation 
policy, and where a charitable donation 
is preferred, to approve the 
beneficiary(ies) of the Charitable 
Donation. 
 

 
 
 
 

 Portfolio Holder for Assets 
& Planning, or Leader  
 
Before 31 Mar 2021 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for Assets & 
Planning 
 
Acquisition 
Project to 
purchase s106 
rented units 
 

To set out details of the potential for 
the authority to acquire three s106 
homes for affordable rent tenure, on a 
development site in the district. 
 

 
 
 
 

 Cabinet 27 Apr 2021, or 
Leader 
 
South Holland District 
Council 12 May 2021 
 

P
age 43



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

 
4 

 

Portfolio Holder 
for Assets & 
Planning 
 
Acquisition 
project to 
purchase 
dwellings for the 
HRA 
 

To present the business case 
associated with the purchase. 

 

 
 
 
 

 Cabinet 27 Apr 2021, or 
Leader 
 
South Holland District 
Council 12 May 2021 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for Assets & 
Planning 
 
HRA 
Development 
Framework 
 

To agree a framework for future HRA 
housing development investment 
decisions. 

 

 
 
 
 

 Cabinet 13 Jul 2021, or 
Leader 
 
South Holland District 
Council 28 Jul 2021 
 

 
 
 

*Cabinet Membership 

P
age 44



 
5 

 

The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader) 
Councillor C N Worth (Deputy Leader of the Council) 
Councillor P E Coupland (Deputy Leader) 
Councillor A Casson (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor H Drury (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor R Gambba-Jones (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor R Grocock (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor C J Lawton (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor E J Sneath (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor G J Taylor (Portfolio Holder) 
 
 

 
If you have any comments or queries regarding any of the entries in the Key Decision Plan please contact: 

 
Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE 

Telephone: 01775 764626 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk 
 

P
age 45

mailto:demservices@sholland.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Report of: The Executive Manager - Governance (Deputy Monitoring Officer) 

  

To: Performance Monitoring Panel Thursday, 18 March 2021  

 

(Author: Christine Morgan Democratic Services Team Leader) 

 

Subject Property acquisition to support the Next Steps Accommodation Programme 

(Portfolio Holder Decision) 

 

Purpose: To allow the Panel to question the Portfolio Holder on the reasons for 

proceeding with the decision, in view of the issues raised during pre-decision 

scrutiny 

 

 
Recommendation: 
 
The report provides background only – there are no recommendations to consider 
 

 

1.0 BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 At a special meeting of the Performance Monitoring Panel held on 9 February 2021, pre-

decision scrutiny was undertaken, in accordance with Paragraph 15, Part 4D (Access to 

Information Procedure Rules) of the Constitution, on a decision to be taken by the Portfolio 

Holder for Assets and Planning relating to ‘Property acquisition to support the Next Steps 

Accommodation Programme’. 

 

1.2 The Panel considered the report and discussed a number of issues, and the following was 

 agreed: 

 

That the Portfolio Holder be notified, in writing, that the Panel’s view is that the property in 

question should not be purchased and that the Portfolio Holder should consider a more 

suitable property, with no chain and that does not require so much work, for the following 

reasons: 

 

i. Concerns with regard to the provision of parking at the location; 

ii. That the spirit of parking within the Local Plan in relation to parking facilities at a 

property used in this manner, should be adhered to; 

iii. Concern with regard to value for money and in particular, the high proportionate 

cost of works needed, compared to the acquisition cost; 

iv. That other, more suitable properties were, or had been available with no chain; 

v. That there should be no rush to acquire a property purely to meet the timescales set 

out in the grant agreement; and 

vi. That the view of Ward members did not appear to have been adequately reflected 

within the report. 

 

1.3  On 22 February 2021, the Portfolio Holder for Assets and Planning made the following 

 decisions relating to the ‘Property acquisition to support Housing Options service delivery’: 

Page 47

Agenda Item 8



i. That the funding identified in the report is utilised from the approved General Fund 

capital programme budget ‘capital acquisitions re Growth and Commercialisation’ and a 

similar amount from the MHCLG capital grant allocation, to enable the purchase and 

adaptation of the identified property in Spalding Monkshouse ward; and 

 

ii. That the authority be delegated to the Executive Director – Commercialisation (S151 

Officer) to agree a purchase price, oversee due diligence, sign any necessary contract 

and complete the transfer, and undertake any other actions necessary to secure the 

purchase of this property with the agreed budget. 

 

1.4 A report was published on 22 February 2021, alongside the decision, and this is attached at 

 Appendix A.  Section 3.2 of the report contains a summary of the comments from the 

 Performance Monitoring Panel, together with the Portfolio Holder’s responses to each 

point, and an assessment of whether there was a justification for proceeding to acquire the 

property. 

 

1.5 The Panel has requested that the Portfolio Holder attend this meeting to provide a fuller 

response to the objections raised on 9 February 2021. 

 

1.6 Whilst the Panel may question the Portfolio Holder further on the matter, it should be noted 

that a final decision has been made and is in the process of implementation. 

 

2.0  OPTIONS 

 

2.1 This report provides background only – there are no options to consider. 

 

3.0 IMPLICATIONS 

 

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 

decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;  

Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 

Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 

Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; 

Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be 

implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below. 

 

3.1 Constitutional & Legal 

 

3.1.1 In addition to call-in, Scrutiny has wide general powers of scrutiny, which include the 

following (as detailed within Part 3 (Delegations), Section D of the Constitution): 

 

 To review or scrutinise any decisions made, or other action taken, in connection with 

the discharge of any functions; 

 

 To question Cabinet Members and/or committees, Chief Officers, Deputy Chief Officers 

and Service Managers about (amongst other things) their decisions and performance in 

relation to particular decisions, initiatives and projects. 

 

It should be noted however that these powers do not provide a further opportunity for call-

in, and the implementation of the decision already made cannot be prevented. 

Page 48



 

3.1.2 The Panel also has a legal power to require the attendance of officers and executive 

members under s9FA(8) of the Local Government Act 2000. 

 

4 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

 

4.1 Spalding – Monkshouse Ward 

 

5 ACRONYMS 

 

5.1 None 

 

Background papers:-  

 

Lead Contact Officer 

Name and Post: Christine Morgan Democratic Services Team Leader 

Telephone Number  

Email: cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk 

 

Key Decision: N  

 

Exempt Decision: N  

 

Appendices attached to this report:  

 

Appendix A Portfolio Holder report – Property acquisition to support the Next 

Steps Accommodation Programme 

  

Exempt appendix attached to this report (Please note that the following appendix is not  

for publication by virtue of Paragraph 2 (Information which is likely to reveal the identity of  

an individual) and Paragraph 3 (Information relating to the financial or business affairs of  

any particular person (including the authority holding that information)): 

 

Appendix B Confidential Appendix – Financial Evaluation 

 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
Report of:  Christine Marshall, Executive Director - Commercialisation 
 
To:  Portfolio Holder for Assets and Planning  
 (Cllr Rodney Grocock) 
 
Author:  Caroline Hannon, Strategic Housing Manager 
 
Subject: Property acquisition to support the Next Steps Accommodation Programme 
 
Purpose:  To consider whether to acquire a property to be occupied by rough 

sleepers and those threatened with rough sleeping, utilising the MHCLG 
grant allocation and the General Fund Capital program budget ‘Capital 
acquisitions re Growth and Commercialisation’. 

 

 
Recommendation(s):  
 

1. That the funding identified in the report is utilised from the approved General Fund capital 
program budget ‘capital acquisitions re Growth and Commercialisation’ and a similar 
amount from the MHCLG capital grant allocation, to enable the purchase and adaptation of 
the identified property in Spalding Monkshouse ward. 

 
2. That authority be delegated to the Executive Director – Commercialisation (S.151 Officer) 

to agree a purchase price, oversee due diligence, sign any necessary contract and 
complete the transfer, and undertake any other actions necessary to secure the purchase 
of this property within the agreed budget. 
 

 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 At Council on 25th November, the authority approved the receipt and spend of MHCLG Next 

Steps Accommodation Programme (NSAP) grant of £399,255, and noted the requirement 

for additional funding of approximately £400,000 to support this programme of activity to be 

funded from the Growth and Commercialisation – Acquisitions Fund on a case by case 

basis. 

 

1.2 The NSAP is a national funding programme to support the Government’s policy to end 
rough sleeping for good. It follows the ‘Everyone In’ initiative which sought to take rough 
sleepers off the streets at the start of the pandemic. The NSAP programme is aimed at 
providing capital funding to secure move-on accommodation for rough sleepers for up to 3 
years and provides revenue funding for staffing resources to support the residents to 
sustain their tenancies. 
 

1.3 On 2nd December, a Leader decision became effective which agreed a project mandate 
relating to the acquisition and refurbishment of accommodation suitable for occupation by 
nine households, utilising the MHCLG grant allocation and delegating authority to Executive 
Director – Commercialisation (S.151 Officer) to approve, enter into and sign the grant 
agreement with Homes England and/or MHCLG. 
 

1.4 The project mandate proposed that SHDC acquires properties which will provide 9 units of 
non-self-contained accommodation for single people or couples. In terms of the strategy for 

Page 51



the use of the funds, SHDC will explore both the acquisition of existing houses in multiple 
occupation that would be suitable for the proposed use, alongside exploring the acquisition 
of a small number of properties which can be easily converted into units of non-self-
contained accommodation. 

 
1.5 Decisions on individual property purchases will be taken by the Portfolio Holder for Assets 

& Planning, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for HRA & Private Sector Housing; the 
Portfolio Holder for Finance, Strategy & Partnerships; and relevant Ward Members. 
 

1.6 The properties will be managed and maintained by SHDC’s Housing Teams as part of the 
overall management of the interim accommodation portfolio.  MHCLG has allocated 
revenue funding to SHDC for this project. The revenue funding will enable an officer to work 
closely with the residents of this accommodation to enable them to sustain their tenancies.   

 
1.7 This report relates to the third proposed acquisition in accordance with the project mandate 

and the conditions of grant.  This proposed acquisition of a property in the Spalding 
Monkshouse ward will be the final of three acquisitions.  

 
2.0 PROPERTY DETAILS 
 
2.1 The identified property is a 3-bedroom semi-detached house which is currently for sale.   
 
2.2 The marketing price is in line with the resources available for this project and is within a 

price range that ensures sufficient further resources are still available to enable the 
purchase of the two additional properties, which have already been identified.     

 
2.3 The property benefits from a rear garden which is mostly laid to lawn with hedging to one 

side. There is a low maintenance front garden which could provide off-road parking for one 
vehicle.  Ongoing grounds maintenance is expected to be minimal.   

 
2.4 The property is in a reasonable condition.  However, improvements are necessary before it 

will be let.  As the property has previously been used as a family home, modifications and 
adaptations will be required for it to provide 3 units of non-self-contained accommodation 
such as installation of an additional bathroom, internal fire doors and locks.  

 
2.5 The property attributes have been considered by the Portfolio Holder for Assets & Planning, 

the Portfolio Holder for HRA & Private Sector Housing and the Portfolio Holder for Finance, 
Strategy & Partnerships.  Spalding Monkshouse ward members and Performance 
Monitoring Panel (PMP) have been consulted. Further information on the feedback from 
Ward Members and PMP is provided at Section 3 of this report. 

 
2.6 The property is deemed by the Housing Team to be suitable for the purposes of providing 

non-secure, non-self-contained accommodation for single people and couples. The 
property attributes include that it is in a location where the residents can access local 
services; the property can be easily adapted to provide three units of non-self-contained 
accommodation; and the layout allows for refurbishment to provide an additional bathroom 
and other preferred modifications. 
 

3.0 FEEDBACK FROM PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL AND SPALDING 
MONKSHOUSE WARD MEMBERS 

 
3.1 On 9th February 2021, a Special meeting of the Performance Monitoring Panel took place 

to allow members, including Spalding Monkshouse ward members, to pre-scrutinise the 
proposed decision to purchase this property.  The Panel raised a number of concerns (set 
out in paragraph 3.2 below) and referred the matter back to the Portfolio Holder for Assets 

Page 52



and Planning with a recommendation that he reconsiders the potential acquisition of this 
property, with a view instead to pursuing the acquisition of a more suitable property, with no 
chain, and that does not require so much work. 

 
3.2 A summary of the comments from PMP, and the response to that feedback, is provided in 

the table below, along with an assessment as to whether there is justification for proceeding 

to acquire the property. 

Comments 
from PMP 

Background information  Justification 
for 
proceeding 

Concerns re: 
parking 
 
 

The property provides one informal off-road parking space in the 
front garden which is already used as a parking space.   
 
The residents of this accommodation will be rough sleepers or 
those at risk of rough sleeping and accordingly it is anticipated 
that there will be a low level of car ownership by the residents. 
 
The table below shows the results of various snapshots of car 
ownership rates amongst residents who were provided with 
temporary accommodation by SHDC. 
 

Date No. of 
households 
in TA 

Number of 
households 
with a car 

% of 
households 
with a car 

6.4.20  42 15 36%  

8.9.20 36 20 56% 

 10.2.21  39 15  38% 

 
This data shows that average car ownership amongst homeless 
households is around 43% of total households. It should be noted 
that a large proportion of the households in temporary 
accommodation are families where car ownership rates are more 
prevalent.  This property will be occupied by single 
people/couples where lower levels of car ownership have been 
identified. 
 
The location of the property, close to services, amenities and 
public transport, means that residents would not necessarily 
need access to a car. 
 

Low levels of 
car 
ownership 
amongst 
rough 
sleepers 
suggest that 
one off-road 
parking 
space will be 
sufficient. 

Need to 
meet the 
spirit of the 
Local Plan in 
respect of 
parking 
attached to 
such 
properties 
 

Planning permission is not required for this property to be used to 
provide three units of non-self-contained accommodation. 
 
Alternative proposals which do require planning consent (i.e. a 
larger House in Multiple Occupation) would be considered in 
accordance with Policy 21 of the Local Plan.  Point 5 of this 
policy indicates that proposals should not have a significant 
adverse impact on the surrounding area by way of increased on-
street parking, impaired highway safety or by impeding proper 
access to the area. 

Planning 
requirements 
would be 
determined 
on a case by 
case basis. 
LCC 
Highways 
has indicated 
that there 

Page 53



 
 
Paragraph 15.1.1 of the Local Plan specifies the minimum 
parking standards required for different types of development 
where planning consent is required.  A HMO property would be 
classed within ‘other residential accommodation’.  Accordingly, 
planning requirements would be determined on a site by site 
basis and could potentially be impacted by the number of 
occupants in the property; the particular location of the property 
in relation to services; the existing situation with regard to any on-
street parking or known parking issues; and anticipated car 
ownership rates.  
 
As part of the consultation process, ward members raised 
concerns about existing parking issues in the vicinity of the 
property.  
 
An informal opinion from Lincolnshire County Council Highways 
Department has been obtained as follows:  
 
Had formal Planning Consent been required, then the highway 
authority would normally be consulted. 
Every proposal is judged on its own merits and prevailing 
circumstances but the fundamental guiding highway principle, 
from paragraph 109 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) document, is that development should only be prevented 
or refused on highway grounds where there would be an 
unacceptable impact upon highway safety or where the residual 
cumulative impact upon the highway network would be severe. 
I do not believe it would be unreasonable to presume that rough 
sleepers would be unlikely to be car owners and therefore off-
street car parking for use by residents of the facility would not be 
essential to make the proposed use acceptable in planning 
terms.  
In any event, the carriageway is particularly wide and therefore 
vehicles parked on the roadside would not be expected to 
unreasonably impede the passage of other road users or have an 
unacceptable impact upon highway safety per se. 
The property is within reasonable walking distance of the centre 
of Spalding where there is a wide range of shops, services and 
facilities as well as options for public transport and employment.  
In such circumstances. The highway authority would advise the 
inclusion of sheltered, secure storage for cycles. 
I do not consider there would be any justification for resisting the 
proposed change of use on highway grounds. 
 

would not be 
any 
justification 
for resisting 
the proposed 
change of 
use on 
highway 
grounds. 
Therefore, it 
is considered 
that one 
parking 
space is 
sufficient and 
this proposal 
is within the 
spirit of the 
Local Plan. 

Value for 
money. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MHCLG funding is providing approximately half of the total 
capital project costs relating to the acquisition and refurbishment 
of this property.   
 
The long term strategy is to retain this asset for 30 years.  The 
financial evaluation at Appendix A indicates that taking account 
of the total scheme costs, rental income and ongoing 
management/maintenance costs, this property will provide a 
return on investment to the authority, as well as providing much 

The scheme 
provides a 
return on 
investment.   
 
Many of the 
on-costs 
would be 
incurred 

Page 54



needed housing for rough sleepers.   
 
PMP noted a high proportionate cost of on-costs compared to the 
acquisition cost.  However, a number of the on-costs included 
within the assessment (such as SHDC project management fee, 
stamp duty, legal fees, contingency and professional fees) would 
be incurred for any property purchase no matter the age, 
condition or price of the property at acquisition.   
 
The report presented to PMP grouped the costs associated with 
HMO works, furnishings and property enhancements. In an 
attempt to provide further clarification within this report, the 
updated financial evaluation provided at Appendix A has split 
these indicative costs.   
 
The HMO and furnishing costs would also apply to any property 
purchased regardless of age or condition, unless it was already 
used to provide non-self-contained accommodation.   
 
The cost of property enhancement for this property is an 
assumed costs based on information known about the property at 
this point in time.  Further surveys will be undertaken as part of 
the due diligence process and once the property has been 
purchased.  Therefore, it is acknowledged that these costs could 
alter.  However, the indicative costs have been informed by an 
initial assessment by SHDC’s Property Surveyors and assume a 
worst case scenario in relation to the enhancements required.  
The cost set out in the financial evaluation also includes an 
enhanced level of contingency to reflect the age and current 
condition of the property which increases the assumed cost of 
property enhancement.   
 
The agreed property price reflects the age and condition of the 
property and the necessary enhancement work required.  The 
acquisition price is less than the acquisition cost of the other two 
properties identified for this project. 
 

regardless of 
the age or 
condition of 
the property 
as they relate 
to 
professional 
fees and 
HMO 
conversion 
costs. 
 
The higher 
refurbishment 
costs are 
offset by the 
lower 
acquisition 
price when 
compared to 
other 
property 
acquisitions.  
 
 

Other more 
suitable 
properties 
are or have 
been 
available 
with no 
chain. 
 
The property 
is semi-
detached as 
opposed to 
detached. 
 
 

SHDC officers have considered 68 properties for this project.  Of 
those, 29 properties have been viewed which appeared to meet 
the necessary property attributes which initially included 
properties being sold with ‘No Chain’.  However, individual 
property negotiations highlighted that the vendors of some of the 
properties which were advertised as ‘No Chain’ were not 
able/willing to act at pace and accordingly, viewing properties 
within a ‘chain’ was considered to also be suitable.   
 
From January 2021, officers viewed properties which were within 
a conveyancing ‘chain’.  This property was identified and whilst it 
is within a ‘chain’, the circumstances of the ‘chain’ indicate that a 
reasonable timeframe for completion can still be achieved.   
 
A number of the 29 properties which were viewed were deemed 
to be unsuitable for a variety of reasons including extensive 
refurbishment works being required; unsuitable shared areas and 
conversion options not feasible.  

Whilst other 
properties 
are available, 
this property 
is considered 
to suitable in 
terms of 
timescale for 
delivery, 
price, 
property type 
and location.  

Page 55



 
Additionally, a number of other suitable properties were sold 
subject to contract very quickly and ahead of obtaining the 
necessary approvals.  
 
The property attributes indicated that both semi-detached and 
detached houses would be considered suitable.  This property is 
semi-detached and is considered to be suitable.   Some 
detached properties were also viewed between October and 
January.  However, there were a limited number of detached 
properties available which were within the appropriate price 
range; for sale with No Chain; and had appropriate sized 
gardens.  Accordingly, a suitable detached property was not 
identified.   
 

We should 
not rush to 
acquire a 
property just 
because of 
the grant 
funding 
 

The Council report approved in November 2020 recognised that 
the timeline for the delivery of the new homes is very tight, and 
that if the delivery date of 31st March 2021 could not be met, 
officers would have to renegotiate the position with 
MHCLG/Homes England.   
 
PMP commented that any decision to purchase this property 
should not be rushed just to accommodate the terms of the grant 
agreement.  This report indicates at paragraph 7.7.1 that officers 
are seeking to renegotiate the terms of the grant agreement to 
extend the practical completion date from 31st March to 30th June.  
For this third property acquisition, officers will also have to seek 
an extension of the start on site date to enable a sufficient period 
for conveyancing.  This extension will be at Homes England’s 
discretion. 
 
This third property has been identified because it predominantly 
meets the preferred property attributes and is considered to be in 
an appropriate location close to services and within an 
appropriate price range in accordance with the project mandate.   
Whilst the decision to hold a pre-scrutiny meeting of PMP was to 
reflect the need to act at pace on this project, the decision to 
acquire this property is not, it is based on the property attributes.    
 

The decision 
is being 
made to 
proceed with 
this 
acquisition 
because the 
property is 
considered to 
be suitable 
for the 
intended use, 
not because 
of the 
deadline for 
the grant 
funding. 

The size of 
the garden  
 

The preferred property attributes indicated a preference for any 
garden to be an appropriate size and not too large.  This was to 
limit the ongoing maintenance costs as the gardens will be 
maintained by SHDC.  
 
PMP commented on the size of the garden at this property. The 
property is marketed as having a large enclosed rear garden.   
 
Given the nature of the rear garden, mostly laid to lawn and with 
some hedging to one side, whilst the rear garden is a generous 
size, the garden is not considered to have excessive ongoing 
maintenance costs.   

The garden is 
considered to 
be 
reasonable 
from a 
management 
perspective. 

Views of 
Ward 
Members do 
not appear to 

Officers viewed this property on 8th January.  On 12th January, 
the property particulars were reviewed by Portfolio Holders for 
Assets & Planning, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for 
HRA & Private Sector Housing and the Portfolio Holder for 

Ward 
members 
have been 
consulted 

Page 56



have been 
adequately 
reflected in 
the report 
 

Finance, Strategy & Partnerships.  Officers were guided to seek 
to negotiate a purchase price and delivery timeframe with the 
vendor.  Following a successful negotiation with the vendor, 
officers paused further viewings and commenced preparation of 
a business case and commenced consultation with Ward 
members. 
 
On 20th January, SHDC’s Strategic Housing Manager met with 
Ward Members to provide details of the identified property, the 
refurbishment proposal, alternative options considered and the 
next steps if the acquisition was to proceed.   
 
During that meeting, members expressed concerns around 
parking, the garden and the size of the property.  The feedback 
was provided to Portfolio Holder for Assets and Planning and has 
been considered as part of the decision making process.   
 
Following that meeting, ward members provided details of other 
suitable properties, both within this Ward and in other Wards.  
However, no further property viewings were undertaken whilst a 
decision was awaited on whether to progress with the acquisition 
of this property.  Officers continued to review the sales market 
and liaise with estate agents and continued to collate a list of 
potentially suitable alternative properties in case a decision was 
made not to proceed with this acquisition.   
 
Following the meeting on 20th January, officers also responded to 
Ward Members’ requests for information relating to the NSAP 
project overall, details of the property search, details of the legal 
process for this property acquisition (which had not commenced 
due to there not being a formal decision to acquire) and details of 
the legal process for the other NSAP acquisitions was provided.   
 
The views of Ward Members have been considered by Portfolio 
Holder for Assets and Planning and have been incorporated into 
this report.  

prior to a 
decision 
being made 
and were 
also invited to 
attend PMP 
to provide 
further 
comments on 
the proposal.  
The feedback 
from ward 
members and 
PMP has 
been taken 
into account 
in making this 
decision. 

 
4.0 OPTIONS 
 
4.1 Utilise funding from the approved General Fund capital program budget ‘capital acquisitions 

re Growth and Commercialisation’ and a similar amount from the MHCLG capital grant 
allocation, to enable the purchase and acquisition of a property in Spalding Monkshouse 
ward and delegate authority to Executive Director – Commercialisation (S.151 Officer) to 
agree a purchase price, oversee due diligence, sign any necessary contract and complete 
the transfer, and undertake any other actions necessary to secure the purchase of this 
property within the agreed budget.  

 
4.2 Do not utilise the General Fund capital program budget ‘capital acquisitions re Growth and 

Commercialisation’ to acquire this property. 
 
4.3 Do nothing, in which case the identified property would not be purchased and alternative 

properties may be pursued. 
 
5.0  REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

Page 57



5.1 Acquisition of this property will assist in the delivery of much needed accommodation for 
those who would otherwise be forced to sleep rough. 
 

5.2 The Council has made a decision to accept the grant allocation and to provide 
accommodation for rough sleepers and those threatened with rough sleeping.  This 
property acquisition meets the approved project mandate.   
 

5.3 The property acquisition will be subsidised by grant funding from MHCLG.  The proposed 
match funding will be taken from the approved General Fund capital program budget 
‘capital acquisitions re Growth and Commercialisation’ in accordance with the Council and 
Leader decision.  Whilst the acquisition would still provide a financial return to the authority 
without the grant funding, as set out in Appendix A, it will provide a better return if the grant 
is utilised.  

 
5.4 The feedback from ward members and the recommendation of PMP have been taken into 

account in reaching this decision.  However, this property is considered to be in an 
appropriate location, close to relevant services and amenities.  The property is an 
appropriate size for the intended purpose.  The property is in reasonable condition but 
some property adaptations are required before it can be occupied.   

 
6.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
6.1 The acquisition of this property will provide a number of benefits, including 

i. It will provide accommodation for rough sleepers and those threatened with rough 
sleeping by taking them off the streets and providing them with accommodation and 
wraparound services to enable them to sustain their tenancy and prepare for longer 
term accommodation options. 

ii. It will increase the range of supported housing available in the district. 
iii. It will enable the authority to utilise capital funding allocated to SHDC by MHCLG, to 

address a local issue. 
iv. The delivery of this property will provide a long term Return on Investment as set out 

in Appendix A. 
v. The acquisition of this property will increase the SHDC asset base. 

 
7.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
 In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 

 decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
 Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 
 Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 
 Management;  Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; 
 Transformation Programme;  Other. Where the report author considers that there may be 
 implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below. 

 
7.1 Constitution & Legal 
 
7.1.1  There are various statutory powers that allow the Council to acquire land, including a 

specific power under section 9 of the Housing Act 1985, a general power to acquire land 
under s120 Local Government Act 1972, and a general power of competence under section 
1 of the Localism Act 2011. In view of the proposed funding arrangements, legal advice has 
been commissioned on the most suitable power to rely upon which has indicated that these 
properties can be acquired using the general competence power in Section 1 of the 
Localism Act 2011.  
 

Page 58



7.1.1 On 25th November, Council agreed to accept this grant allocation and provide appropriate 
capital match funding. 

 
7.1.2 On 2nd December, a decision by the Leader of SHDC became effective which provided a 

project mandate for the acquisition of existing properties to provide 9 units of non-self-
contained accommodation for rough sleepers and those threatened with rough sleeping. 

 
7.2 Contracts 
 
7.2.1 This decision delegates authority to the Executive Director – Commercialisation (S.151 

Officer) to agree a purchase price, oversee due diligence, sign any necessary contract and 
complete the transfer, and undertake any other actions necessary to secure the purchase 
of this property within the agreed budget 

 
7.2.2 The Leader decision of 2nd December delegated authority to the Executive Director – 

Commercialisation (S.151 Officer) to approve, enter into and sign the grant agreement with 
Homes England and/or MHCLG.   

 
7.2.3 SHDC has received the grant agreement which has been reviewed by the Executive 

Manager – Governance, with support from external lawyers, prior to signature.  The grant 
agreement is in a similar format to the Homes England contract signed by SHDC to secure 
grant for the Small Drove scheme. The contract includes a number of clauses and 
requirements which SHDC will have to comply with which seek to ensure that the scheme is 
delivered in accordance with the agreed project and timescales.  
 

7.2.4 Some of the key conditions of the agreement are detailed below: 
 

 Timescales for delivery - The grant has been offered to the authority on the 
assumption that SHDC will deliver the scheme as detailed in the approved funding 
application and to the timeframe agreed. The bid was submitted committing to the 
delivery of 9 units which will be occupiable by 31st March 2021. The grant agreement 
requires that any deviation to this must be agreed by Homes England.  
 

 Reporting – The grant offer is subject to the authority maintaining regular and on-
ongoing communication with Homes England. Homes England require strict monitoring 
and reporting and all data relating to the project must be kept for a minimum of 10 
years. Homes England require regular updates on progress and the submission of an 
‘Officers Certificate’ confirming compliance at intervals through the life of the project.   

 

 Penalties - The grant agreement lists a series of potential ‘grant withholding events’, 
which are instances whereby Homes England may choose to withhold payment of the 
grant. These include a material breach of an obligation under the agreement or through 
not delivering the scheme within timescales. 

 

7.2.5 On 19th February, SHDC received correspondence from Homes England that they had 
received some additional flexibility in relation to the NSAP programme from the Secretary of 
State. This allows all project milestones to be extended into Q1 2021/22 (including 
acquisition and start-on-site).  However, the advice indicated that project completion must 
also be before end Q1 (30th June) and where possible Homes England needs to maximise 
delivery within this financial year, ie. starts and completions by 31 March 2021.  
Accordingly, the risk associated with entering into the contract and delivering this property 
in accordance with the timescales stated in the grant agreement have reduced. 
 

Page 59



7.2.5 The S151 Officer is satisfied with the terms of the contract and that the project can 

reasonably be delivered in accordance with the requirements and accordingly the grant 

agreement has been signed.   

 

7.2.6 This will be the second Homes England grant funded project that has been managed by 

officers who utilise project management tools to ensure that projects are successfully 

delivered; maintaining appropriate data monitoring systems and excellent communication 

with Homes England.  SHDC’s performance was recognised in 2019 when the authority 

successfully received a green rated compliance audit, with no major or minor breaches. 

Additionally, SHDC has recently qualified for continued partnership status with Homes 

England for the upcoming 2021 -2026 grant funding programme based on performance to 

date.  

 
7.3 Corporate Priorities 
 
7.3.1 The SHDC Corporate Plan 2019-23 sets out the Council’s vision for the district and its 

priorities for this period.   
 
7.3.2 This project supports the agreed vision and priorities of the Plan, including:  

 Providing good-quality housing that everyone in our community can call their home.   

 Delivering cost-effective core services by reducing costs or raising money by being 

more commercially-minded in how we work.  

 Applying for national and regional funding to help with local projects. 

 Work to prevent and mitigate homelessness. 

 Enable effective planning and delivery of housing solutions to meet local needs and 

aspirations to ensure that our residents have access to a range of housing options in 

the district. 

 Ensure that our residents are enabled to live in high quality housing no matter the 

tenure. 

 Ensure that national policies relating to modern slavery and the safeguarding of 

vulnerable children and adults are embedded effectively throughout all aspects of our 

services. 

7.4 Financial  
 
7.4.1 This property acquisition will enable the authority to utilise part of the capital grant allocation 

from MHCLG.  The financial evaluation assumes that the MHCLG capital grant allocation 
will be distributed equally across three property acquisitions, irrespective of the purchase 
prices. 
 

7.4.2 The approved General Fund capital program budget ‘capital acquisitions re Growth and 
Commercialisation’ was established to enable the authority to act commercially and rapidly 
in its endeavours relating to property acquisitions. It has been agreed that this is the 
appropriate budget to provide match funding for this project and there are resources 
available from this budget to meet the property acquisition and adaptation costs. 

 
7.4.3 The total indicative scheme costs for this property includes the purchase costs, on-costs, 

furnishings and costs associated with necessary property modifications/adaptations; and 
will provide a long-term return on investment to the authority, as set out in Appendix A.   
 

7.4.4 It should be noted that the overall return on investment for this project will not be known 
until all of the properties have been purchased and the improvement works programme for 
the properties has been completed.  Each property acquisition will have a different return on 

Page 60



investment so some will appear to perform better than others.  However, investment 
decisions regarding each property acquisition take account of the available resources, in 
accordance with the parameters of the project mandate. 

 
7.5  Health & Wellbeing 

 
7.5.1 By taking rough sleepers off the streets and providing them with accommodation, there is 

an opportunity to address the health and social needs of individuals and to stop them going 
back to the streets.  

 
7.6  Reputation  
 
7.6.1 Addressing the needs of rough sleepers and those at risk of rough sleeping should create a 

positive impact on the authority’s reputation.  It will demonstrate the authority’s commitment 
to safeguarding vulnerable people and create a positive impact on the environmental 
impact of rough sleeping in the district. 

 
7.6.2 The risks associated with this project will be carefully managed, with mitigation plans in 

place to support the delivery of the acquisitions project and uphold the Council’s reputation.  
 
7.7 Risk Management  

 
7.7.1 SHDC will be entering into a contract with Homes England.  SHDC must adhere to the 

terms of the grant agreement to safeguard the grant award.  The timeline for the delivery of 
the new homes, as per the grant agreement, requires the properties to be in ownership by 
31st March 2021.  However, on 19th February, SHDC received confirmation from Homes 
England that all project milestone set out in the contract have been extended to 30th June.  
Accordingly, it will not be necessary for officers to formally renegotiate grant conditions with 
Homes England/MHCLG.  Officers will continue to work closely with Homes 
England/MHCLG throughout the next period.  

 
7.7.3  Whilst there is still risk around the timescales for delivery of each acquisition, proceeding 

with the project gives the authority the best opportunity to secure the funding for the district 
and provide this much needed accommodation.  
 

7.7.4 The authority’s Housing Development Team will project manage the acquisitions process 
and endeavour to meet the grant conditions and maintain robust records which will satisfy 
any subsequent Homes England audit.   
 

7.7.5 Any offer which is made to the vendor will be subject to the necessary funding being 
available alongside relevant property due diligence, such as surveys and report on title.  
SHDC will exchange and complete on the purchase of this property with full awareness of 
the obligations contained in the grant agreement.  Accordingly, making an offer to purchase 
the property does not legally oblige the authority to acquire this property. 

 
7.7.6 Once the property has been purchased, the time limited MHCLG revenue funding which 

has been made available as part of the NSAP alongside the capital funding, will be used to 
establish the management approach for this accommodation and support rough sleepers to 
sustain their tenancies and seek to avoid ongoing management issues. The Housing 
Management team is experienced at managing interim accommodation and the allocation 
of revenue funding from MHCLG will enable appropriate processes and procedures to be 
put in place for managing this accommodation to ensure it is sustainable. 

 
7.8 Staffing 
 

Page 61



7.8.1 Appropriate staffing resources will be identified as part of the management strategy for this 
accommodation.  This is likely to include the appointment of a fixed-term officer to lead on 
the overall management of the NSAP accommodation and to implement appropriate 
processes and procedures for managing this accommodation into the long term, to ensure 
it is sustainable.  

 
7.8 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales 
 
7.8.1 MHCLG and Homes England are funding and administering NSAP.  Housing Development 

officers and the Housing Landlord Services Manager will maintain close contact with both 
parties to ensure they are informed about SHDC’s project through the delivery phases and 
that all activity is in accordance with the grant conditions.   

 
8.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
8.1 Spalding Monkshouse ward 
 
9.0 ACRONYMS  
 

SHDC – South Holland District Council 
NSAP – Next Steps Accommodation Programme 
MHCLG – Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
PMP – Performance Monitoring Panel 
HMO – House in Multiple Occupation 

 

Background papers:-  

Lead Contact Officer 
Name and Post: Caroline Hannon, Strategic Housing Manager 
Telephone Number: 01775 764539 
Email: caroline.hannon@breckland-sholland.gov.uk 
 
Key Decision: Yes  
 
Exempt Decision: Part-exempt 
 
This report refers to a Mandatory Service 
 
Appendices attached to this report:  
Confidential Appendix A - Financial Evaluation  
 

Page 62



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Report of: Executive Manager – Governance (Deputy Monitoring Officer)  

 

To: Performance Monitoring Panel Thursday, 18 March 2021  

 

(Author: Christine Morgan Democratic Services Team Leader) 

 

Subject Performance Monitoring Panel Work Programme 

 

Purpose: To set out the Work Programme of the Performance Monitoring Panel  

 

 
Recommendation:  
 
That the Panel gives consideration to the report and identifies any issues for discussion. 

 

 

1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 This report records the issues for consideration that have been identified by the Panel for 

inclusion on its Work Programme.   
 
1.2 Issues 

 
1.2.1 Appendix A sets out the dates of future Panel meetings along with proposed items for 
 consideration. These items were either originally suggested by councillors or are being 
 referred to the Panel from officers or the Cabinet.  The appendix will be updated as new 
 items are identified. 
 
1.2.2 Appendix B sets out the task groups that have been identified by the Panel.  The table 
 shows: 
 

 The name of the task group 

 What it wants to achieve 

 Key dates 

 Membership of the task group 

 When the task group will be reporting back to the Panel 
 
1.2.3 It is hoped that in presenting the information in this way, and by having the report as a 

standing item on the agenda, it will record the issues identified by the Panel and provide the 
opportunity for councillors to monitor the progress of its Work Programme. 

 
2.0 OPTIONS 
 
2.1 To note and consider the current status of the Work Programme. 
 
2.2 To do nothing. 
 
3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 
3.1 To allow councillors to feed into the Panel’s calendar of Work Programme items and the 

Work Programme on a regular basis, to ensure that they stay relevant and up to date. 

Page 63

Agenda Item 10



 
4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
4.1 The calendar of Work Programme items and the Work Programme will provide councillors 

with up to date and relevant information.  Timelines for various calendar items and 
proposed task groups within the Work Programme are included within the appendices. 

 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
 In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of 
 the decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;  
 Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
 Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk  Management; 
 Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation 
 Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications  
 under one or more of these headings, these are identified below. 
 
5.1 Corporate Priorities 
 
5.1.1 In identifying issues for inclusion on the Work Programme, councillors consider the 

suitability of the subject, taking into account considerations such as whether the issue is 
strategic and significant and whether it is likely to lead to effective outcomes.  One of the 
indicators against which each potential task group is scored identifies how strongly the 
topic links to the Council’s key aims and priorities.  

 
 
6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
6.1 This report has no implications however, as individual items are progressed through the 

Work Programme, their impact on wards and communities will be assessed. 
 
7.0 ACRONYMS  
 
7.1 None. 
 

Background papers:- None 

 

Lead Contact Officer 

Name and Post: Christine Morgan Democratic Services Team Leader 

Telephone Number 01775 764454 

Email: cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk 

 

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service  

 

Appendices attached to this report:  

 

Appendix A Work Programme Calendar 2020/21 and 2021/22 

Appendix B Task Group Work Programme 2020/21 

Page 64



 APPENDIX A 
 
PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL – CALENDAR OF WORK PROGRAMME 

ITEMS 2020/21 and 2021/22 
 
 

 
Date of 
Meeting 

 
Agenda items 

 

17 March 2021  Update report on progress of the Digital Work Programme 
(Six-monthly updates requested at meeting held 29/1/20, last 
update received 9/9/20). To include financial information-how 
much of funding used, what it had been used for and whether 
VFM achieved. 

 Property acquisition to support the Next Steps 
Accommodation Programme (Portfolio Holder Decision) – to 
question the Portfolio Holder on the reasons for proceeding 
with the decision, in view of the issues raised during pre-
decision scrutiny 

May 2021 
Special 
meeting – date 
to be confirmed 

 Superintendent Mark Howsley to attend meeting to address 
issues raised at meeting of PMP on 27 January 2021, and 
any other questions 

16 June 2021  Swimming Pool and Leisure Facilities Contract Task Group – 
update on progress of recommendations (last updates 
received 18 June 2019, 11 September 2019 and 10 
November 2020). Include information requested at November 
2020 meeting. 

 Workforce Strategy 2019-2023 (revised following CV19) – 
considered at Council 29/7/20 – Diarise to monitor 
achievement against the 2 schedules considered – April-July 
2021 

 Q4 2021/22 Performance Report 

 Marketing/Renovation of Industrial units – six monthly update 
report requested at meeting held 29/1/20 – last update 
received 9/9/20) 

 Corporate Enforcement – update report on how the Authority 
is addressing the various types of enforcement, following the 
Authority-wide reorganisation (last update 6/2/18, 31/7/18, 
30/1/19, 12/11/19 & 27/1/21). Six-monthly 

8 September 
2021 

 Economic Development and Inward Investment update – 
(first update received 11 September 2019, updated reports to 
be on a six-monthly basis, to include an executive summary 
alongside the main report). COVID-relevant update received 
8/7/20, and further update received on 27/1/21. 

 Regional Manger for DWP to explain Universal Credit and 
other projects that the DWP are working on (to be considered 
alongside the Economic Development update) 

 Q1 2022/23 Performance Report 

9 November 
2021 

 Crime and Disorder – Update report on community safety 
and how it is being delivered through the various tiers of 
Groups and Panels (including the East Lincs CSP and newly 
formed Lincolnshire CSP) – Update to be provided every six 
months by the Portfolio Holder for Community Development. 

Page 65



Last discussed at meetings on 18/6/19, 11/9/19, a COVID-
relevant update on 8/7/20, and 27/1/21. 

 Q2 2022/23 Performance Report 

 Sir Halley Stewart Playing Field Task Group – update report 
on the current status of recommendations, and an update on 
all the issues raised by the original task group (as requested 
by PMP November 2020).  Decision then to be taken on 
whether new Task Group necessary. 

 Six-monthly update report on Refuse Collection from Private 
Drives (first reported 8/7/20) 

5 January 2022 
Joint PMP/PDP 

 Budget Scrutiny 

26 January 
2022 

 Q3 2022/23 Performance Report 

16 March 2022   

Items yet to be 
allocated. 

 Information report on future commercialisation projects 
(Richard Hodgson/Christine Marshall – last update 13 
November 2018). 

 Commercialisation (2) – how effectively is the Authority 
managing commercial opportunities?  Second report, a 
general report around commercialisation. 

 Cost of running the South Holland Centre  

 What areas of risk exist within Public Services for cost 
shunting, and how can this be avoided?  

 
 
For future consideration 
 

 Note: Following consideration of the Key Decision Plan, PMP and PDP have 
requested that a special Joint Meeting will be held to discuss the setting up 
of the South Holland Building Consultancy prior to it being considered by 
Cabinet (date to be confirmed). 

 Commercialisation – As potential projects arise, PMP to consider scrutiny 
 

**************** 
To be considered annually: 
 

1) The Sir Halley Stewart Playing Field Task Group presented its Final 
Report to Council on 21 January 2015.  Its first recommendation was: 

 
That the Council (i) advises the Charity Commission that the Task Group has 
considered the Commission’s Guidance on public benefit and is satisfied that the 
Council is compliant; (ii) provides a copy of this report to the Commission in order to 
outline the actions proposed by the Council; and (iii) invites  the Performance 
Monitoring Panel to appoint a Task Group on an annual (single meeting) basis 
for the specific purpose of ensuring that the Council remains compliant with 
Charity Commission Guidance. 
 
A meeting took place on 24 January 2019. Suggest next meeting January 2021 
 

2) Review of Implemented Planning Decisions – Tour undertaken 5 
September 2019, next tour to be undertaken in September 2020  
UPDATE – Provisionally booked for 15 September 2021 – to be reviewed 
May 2021 in light of Covid situation 

Page 66



APPENDIX B 
 

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL – WORK PROGRAMME 2020/2021 
 

Name of Task Group What the Task Group wants to achieve Date added 
to Work 
Programme 

Date Work 
Commenced     

Membership 
of Task 
Group 

Proposed date of 
report to Panel 

Public Open Spaces Task 
Group 

To be confirmed at first meeting. 12 
November 
2019 

TBC B Alcock 
J R Astill 
A C Beal 
CJTH Brewis 
PA Redgate 

TBC 

Public Toilets Task Group To review public toilets in the district, looking at 
location, cleaning regimes, usage, reasons for 
closure and running costs. 
To use information gathered to ensure value 
for money, good service, and that the right 
money was spent in the right place. 

6 February 
2018 

23 April 2018 J R Astill 
CJTH Brewis 
T A Carter 
GK Dark 
(Chairman) 
PC Foyster 

30 January 2019 
To Cabinet 12 
Feb 2019  
Response from 
Cabinet to PMP 
20 Mar 2019. 
Update on 
progress PMP 
11/9/19 & 29/1/20. 

Swimming Pool and 
Leisure Centre Contract 
Task Group 

To review the Spalding swimming pool and 
leisure centre, specifically: 

 To consider performance, in relation to the 
contract, by the Authority and the 
contractor, particularly with reference to 
building maintenance and cleanliness, 
promotion of the facilities and reinvestment 
in the facilities; 

1 December 
2015 

21 January 
2016 

J R Astill 
T A Carter 
G K Dark 
(Chairman) 
J L King 
A M Newton 

30 August 2016 
To Cabinet 8 
November 2016 
 
Response and 
update on 
progress PMP 
4/2/17, 16/5/17, 

P
age 67



Name of Task Group What the Task Group wants to achieve Date added 
to Work 
Programme 

Date Work 
Commenced     

Membership 
of Task 
Group 

Proposed date of 
report to Panel 

 To look at the Council’s performance in 
monitoring the leisure facilities; and 

 To learn from the outcomes of this scrutiny, 
to inform future contracts and contract 
monitoring. 

7/11/17, 13/11/18, 
8/06/19 & 11/9/19. 
Next update was 
due 10/11/20 

Sir Halley Stewart Playing 
Field Task Group 

Recommendation of the original Task Group to 
appoint a Task Group on an annual (single 
meeting) basis for the specific purpose of 
ensuring that the Council remained compliant 
with Charity Commission Guidance. 

15 June 
2016 

Date to be 
confirmed. 

GR Aley 
JR Astill 
GK Dark 
PC Foyster 
AM Newton 

Meeting took 
place on 24 
January 2019. 
 
Suggest Jan 21 

Effectiveness of CCTV 
Task Group 

Purpose of Review – To establish the current 
situation with regard to CCTV and make 
recommendations to Cabinet on the way 
forward. 
 
Terms of Reference – To examine the 
effectiveness of the SHDC CCTV service and 
prospects for future provision. 
 
Panel received update on 8 April 2014 from the 
Portfolio Holder for Localism and Big Society 
on the position regarding CCTV.  Performance 
information will be available on the new system 
in the future, once it becomes operational.  
The Task Group will remain in operation to 
scrutinise performance and will start to do 

6 November 
2012  

21 November 
2012  

B Alcock 
M Howard 
R M Rudkin 
D J Wilkinson 
(Chairman) 
 
 
   

Interim report to 
PMP 29 January 
2013  
Interim report to 
Cabinet 19 
February 2013. 
Tracking of 
recommendations 
to PMP 26 March 
2013 
Updates to PMP: 
8 April 2014, and 
six-monthly 
thereafter.  

P
age 68



Name of Task Group What the Task Group wants to achieve Date added 
to Work 
Programme 

Date Work 
Commenced     

Membership 
of Task 
Group 

Proposed date of 
report to Panel 

this once the information becomes 
available. 

The effectiveness of 
management companies 
set up to undertake 
maintenance on 
residential estates 
throughout the district 
past, present and for the 
future. 

Scope to be confirmed. 25 
November 
2014 

To be 
confirmed 

To be 
confirmed 

To be confirmed 

 

P
age 69



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 71

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2a) Performance Monitoring Panel
	2b) Performance Monitoring Panel
	2c) Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel
	2d) Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel
	7 Key Decision Plan
	8 Property acquisition to support the Next Steps Accommodation Programme (Portfolio Holder Decision)
	Appendix A

	10 Performance Monitoring Panel Work Programme
	Appendix A
	Appendix B

	13 Property acquisition to support the Next Steps Accommodation Programme (Portfolio Holder Decision)

